ANTIHYPERTENSIVE THERAPY AND RISK OF CARDIOVASCULAR DISEASE IN DIABETIC SUBJECTS

MARIA G. PIETRANGELO (8811430)

Department of Epidemiology and Biostatistics McGill University, Montréal

JANUARY 2002

A thesis submitted to the faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfilment of the requirements of the degree of Master's of Science.



National Library of Canada

Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Acquisitions et services bibliographiques

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

Your file Votre référence

Our file Notre rélérence

The author has granted a nonexclusive licence allowing the National Library of Canada to reproduce, loan, distribute or sell copies of this thesis in microform, paper or electronic formats.

The author retains ownership of the copyright in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission. L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada de reproduire, prêter, distribuer ou vendre des copies de cette thèse sous la forme de microfiche/film, de reproduction sur papier ou sur format électronique.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

0-612-78939-X

Canadä

THESIS ABSTRACT

Objective.— This study was designed to assess the association between cardiovascular disease and the use of antihypertensive drugs in a diabetic population.

Design and Setting.— We conducted a case-control study nested within a cohort of 2499 subjects over 45 years old with diabetes and hypertension in Saskatchewan.

Outcomes.— The main outcome measure was first hospitalization for cardiovascular disease.

Exposure Definition.— The main exposure of interest was current use of antihypertensive drugs, defined as drug dispensing within 90 days of the index date.

Statistical Analysis.— Relative risks were calculated with 95% confidence intervals using conditional logistic regression models. Full multivariate models, adjusting for all potential confounding covariates, were performed. **Results.**— Compared with diuretics, current use of calcium antagonists was associated with a 1.90-fold increase in risk of cardiovascular disease (RR 1.90; 95% CI= 1.25-2.91). The current use of β -blockers was not associated with an increase in morbidity. The risk of cardiovascular disease for angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors (ACE-I) relative to diuretics was found to be increased only in the subgroup of patients currently exposed to other antihypertensive drugs, including peripheral vasodilators, centrally-

i

acting α_2 -agonists, and α -blockers (RR 1.6; 95% CI= 1.19-2.18).

Conclusion.— Results of this research agree with the findings from several observational studies and clinical trials. However, factors influencing selective prescribing practices could not be completely accounted for and may partially explain our results.

RÉSUMÉ

But de l'étude.— Le but de cette étude était d'évaluer l'association entre les maladies cardio-vasculaires et l'utilisation d'agents anti-hypertenseurs dans une population.

Devis et contexte. – Nous avons utilisé un devis cas-témoin niché dans une cohorte de 2499 sujets de la Saskatchewan, âgés de plus de 45 ans et souffrants de diabète et d'hypertension.

Issue d'intérêt.— L'issue d'intérêt était une première hospitalisation pour cause de maladie cardio-vasculaire.

Définition d'exposition. – La variable d'exposition d'intérêt principal était l'utilisation courante d'agents anti-hypertenseurs, ceci étant défini comme ces agents ayant été servis à l'intérieur d'une période de 90 jours suivant la date "index".

Analyse Statistique.— Les risques relatifs, et leur intervalles de confiance correspondantes, ont été calculés d'après des modèles de régression logistique. Des modèles multi-variés ont été élaborés afin d'ajuster pour toutes les variables potentiellement confondantes.

Résultats.— L'utilisation courante d'antagonistes calciques, comparée à celle de diurétiques, était associée à une augmentation de 90% du risque de maladie cardio-vasculaire (RR 1.90; 95% CI= 1.25-2.91). L'utilisation courante de bloqueurs- β n'était pas associée à une élévation de la morbidité. Nous avons observé que le risque de maladie cardio-vasculaire associé à

iii

l'utilisation des inhibiteurs de l'enzyme de conversion de l'angiotensin (l-ECA), relatif à l'usage de diurétiques, était augmenté seulement pour le sous-groupe de patients concurremment exposés à d'autres médicaments anti-hypertenseurs, dont les agents vasodilatateurs périphériques, ainsi que les agonistes- α_2 et les antagonistes- α ayant une action centrale (RR 1.6; 95% CI= 1.19-2.18).

Conclusion.— Les résultats de cette recherche sont en accord avec les résultats de plusieurs essaies cliniques et études d'observation épidémiologiques. Néanmoins, les facteurs influençant les pratiques de prescription sélective n'ont pu être complètement contrôlés et pourraient expliquer, en partie, nos résultats.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	i
RÉSUMÉ	iii
TABLE OF CONTENTS	V
LIST OF FIGURES, TABLES AND APPENDICES	Vİİ
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	viii
CHAPTER ONE - OBJECTIVES	1
1.1 Objectives	1
CHAPTER TWO - LITERATURE REVIEW	2
2.1 Epidemiology of diabetes	2
2.1.1 Classification of diabetes	2
2.1.2 Treatment of diabetes	4
2.1.3 Chronic complications of diabetes	4
2.1.3.1 Cardiovascular morbidity	4
2 1 3 2 Mortality and diabetes	5
2 1 3 3 Economic Burden	6
2 1 4 Risk factors for diabetic complications	6
2.2. Hypertension	6
2 2 1 Prevalence	7
2.2.2 Morbidity and mortality in hypertension	7
2.2.2 Mondaty and montality in hypothenoion	8
2 2 3 1 Non-pharmacologic management	8
2 2 3 2 Pharmacologic management	8
2.3 Diabetes and Hypertension	10
2.3 1 Enidemiology of hypertension in diabetic nationts	10
2.3.1 Epidemiology of hypertension in diabetic patients	10
2.3.2 Morbially and mortality due to hypertension in diabetic patients.	10
2.3.4 Dethegonoois of otherocoloroois in disbetes and hyportension	11
2.3.4 Pathogenesis of atheroscierosis in diabetes and hypertension.	10
2.3.5 Management of hypertension in diabetic patients	10
2.3.5.1 Blood pressure reduction.	15
2.3.5.2 Pharmacotherapy of hypertension in diabetic patients	17
2.3.5.3 Metabolic issues in hypertensive patients with diabetes	1/
2.3.5.4 Renoprotection and antihypertensive therapy	19
2.4 Antihypertensive therpay in diabetic patients and risk of	~~
	20
2.4.1 Review of evidence from observational studies	21
2.4.1.1 Critical appraisal of observational studies in diabetics	22
2.4.2 Review of the evidence and critical appraisal of clinical trials	24
	31
CHAPTER INKEE - METHODS	32
3.1 Overview of the study design	32
3.2 Sources of data	33
3.2.1 Health insurance registration file	34
3.2.2 Outpatient prescription drug services branch database	- 34

3.2.3 Hospital services branch database	35
3.3 Ethical consideration	35
3.4 Definition of the cohort	36
3.5 Definition of case patients	38
3.6 Selection of controls	38
3.7 Drug exposure	39
371 Current use	39
372 Prior use	39
373 Any use	39
3.8 Confounders and effect modifiers	40
3 9 Statistical analysis	42
	45
A 1 Selection of the cohort	45
A 2 Descriptive analysis of the case-control	47
A 3 Analysis of rick	53
4.3 1 Unadjusted risk ratios for cardiovascular disease	53
4.3.1 Orladjusted Tisk Tatlos for Carulovascular disease	50
4.3.1.1 Current use analysis	53
4.3.1.2 Any use analysis	53
4.3.2 Predictors of cardiovascular disease	55
4.3.3 Distribution of potential contounders among controls according	
to current antihypertensive drug exposure	57
4.3.4 Assessment of confounding: current use analysis	63
4.3.5 Assessment of confounding: any use analysis	67
4.3.6 Assessment of effect modification	70
4.3.7 Multivariate analysis	71
4.3.7.1 Final model: current use analysis	71
4.3.7.2 Final model: any use analysis	72
4.3.8 Assessment of risk for individual cardiovascular outcomes with	
antihypertensive therapy	75
4.3.8.1 Current use analysis	75
4.3.8.2 Any use analysis	76
4.4 Summary of the study results	79
CHAPTER FIVE - DISCUSSION	81
5.1 Risk of cardiovascular disease and the use of antihypertensive	
therapy	81
5.2 Methodologic considerations	88
5.2.1 Selection bias	88
5.2.2 Information bias	90
5.2.3 Confounding	93
CHAPTER SIX - CONCLUSIONS	96
REFERENCES	98
APPENDICES	112

LIST OF FIGURES, TABLES AND APPENDICES

FIGURES AND TABLES

Figure 4.1	Enumeration of the cohort	46
Table 4.1	Hospital discharge diagnosis of the cases	50
Table 4.2	Characteristics of cases and controls	51
Table 4.3	Patterns of drug use among cases and controls	52
Table 4.4	Unadjusted risk ratios for cardiovascular disease associated	
	with antihypertensive drugs	54
Table 4.5	Evaluation of predictors of cardiovascular events	56
Table 4.6	Distribution of confounding variables among controls according to	
	current antihypertensive drug exposure	61
Table 4.7	Potential confounding variables on the association of current	
	calcium antagonist use and cardiovascular events	65
Table 4.8	Potential confounding variables on the association of current	
	β-blocker use and cardiovascular events	66
Table 4.9	Potential confounding variables on the association of any calcium	
	antagonist use and cardiovascular events	68
Table 4.10	Potential confounding variables on the association of any	
	β-blocker use and cardiovascular events	69
Table 4.11	Multivariate analysis: Final model for the current use of	
	antihypertensive drugs and risk of cardiovascular disease	73
Table 4.12	Multivariate analysis: Any use analysis	74
Table 4.13	Risk of individual cardiovascular disease outcomes with	
	antihypertensive medications: Current use analysis	77
Table 4.14	Risk of individual cardiovascular disease outcomes with	
	antihypertensive medications: Any-use analysis	78
	•••	

APPENDICES

Appendix 1	Metabolic profiles of different classes of antihypertensive therapy	113
Appendix 2	Observational studies on the association of cardiovascular disease and antihypertensive therapy in diabetic subjects	114
Appendix 3	Randomized clinical trials of antihypertensive therapy in diabetic patients	115
Appendix 4	Antihyperglycemic drugs used to identify diabetic patients	116
Appendix 5	Antihypertensive drugs used to identify hypertensive patients	117
Appendix 6	atherosclerotic disease prior to cohort entry	118
Appendix 7	ICD-9 codes used for the identification of case patients	119
Appendix 8	Drug markers used for comorbidity assessment in the year	
	preceding cohort entry	120

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I am most grateful to my thesis supervisor, Dr. Samy Suissa, for his guidance and support. I was honored to be part of his research team. Being part of this stimulating environment allowed me to reach greater heights in the understanding of epidemiology. I would like to thank Diane Gaudreau for her help, resourcefulness, and more specifically, for the time-consuming task of collecting the references required for this thesis. I had the good fortune of sharing my office with two wonderful colleagues, Abbas Kezouh and Bin Zhang, with whom I shared many laughs. To Abbas, I am grateful for his help in developing the database and for your patience. The word "SAS" is no longer frightening! Many thanks to Caroline for her friendship and kindness. As always, my family's constant love and support are greatly appreciated. Finally, but definitely not least, I am forever grateful to my loving husband, Germain. His many words of advice and encouragement kept me motivated to the last page.

viii

Chapter One - OBJECTIVES

1.1 Objectives

The general objective of this study was to evaluate the risk of cardiovascular disease associated with the use of antihypertensive medications in diabetic patients with uncomplicated hypertension. This research tested the hypothesis that calcium channel blockers are associated with an excess risk of cardiovascular disease in these patients.

More specifically, this study aims:

- To assess the risk of overall cardiovascular disease among users of diuretics, beta-blockers, calcium channel blockers, angiotensinconverting enzyme inhibitors, and other miscellaneous classes of antihypertensive agents in subjects with diabetes and hypertension.
- To assess the risk of myocardial infarction, unstable angina, other ischemic heart disease, congestive heart failure, and stroke among users of the same above-mentioned classes of antihypertensive agents.
- To identify patient characteristics associated with an increased risk of cardiovascular disease.

Chapter Two - LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Epidemiology of Diabetes

Diabetes is a public health problem of enormous proportion (1). National surveys in Canada estimate that approximately 1 500 000 people are affected with this disease (1;2). Obesity and aging are independently associated with diabetes. As the population ages and the prevalence of obesity rises, the burden of this chronic disorder will continue to escalate in our society (1;2). It is estimated that approximately 3% of people aged 35 to 64 years have diabetes and this prevalence increases to 10% of individuals over 65 years old (1). It is predicted that by 2010, three million Canadians will be affected with diabetes (2).

2.1.1 Classification of Diabetes

Diabetes mellitus, the most common endocrine disorder (3), is characterized by the body's inability to sufficiently produce and/or properly utilize insulin. Consequently, glucose cannot be efficiently metabolized in the bloodstream. The resulting chronic high levels of blood glucose are associated with the long term complications involving multiple organ systems, namely renal, neurologic, cardiovascular, and ocular systems (1;3;4). For the most part, there are two major classifications of diabetes, type 1 and type 2 diabetes (1;3;4). Approximately 90% of patients belong in the latter classification.

Type 1 Diabetes. Type 1 diabetes generally occurs in younger, lean patients and is characterized by the marked inability of the pancreas to secrete insulin (5). Therefore, these individuals are insulin dependent, since no endogenous insulin is produced (3;5). Among type 1 diabetic patients, the reduction in life expectancy is at least 15 years (3). According to U.S. data, these individuals have a 7-fold excess mortality risk compared with the U.S. population of the same age (6;7). The prevalence of cardiovascular disease in these insulin-dependent diabetics is close to 10%, increasing with age and duration of diabetes (8). Multiple studies have demonstrated up to a 7-fold increase in the prevalence of heart disease (6;8-10).

Type 2 Diabetes. Type 2 diabetes, previously referred to as non-insulin dependent diabetes, typically begins after age 40. The individuals affected usually have a family history of diabetes and are obese (3). The onset of type 2 diabetes is a two-stage process:

- peripheral resistance to the action of insulin, often worsened by obesity, followed by
- the pancreas failing to increase insulin secretion despite the presence of elevated serum glucose levels (1-3).

Life expectancy is reduced by 5-10 years in middle-aged people with type 2 diabetes. This reduction may be greater if the age of onset is younger (1-3;11;12). Overall mortality among type 2 diabetics is approximately twice as high as those of non-diabetic individuals. Mortality is increased at all ages. However, the differences in death rates in comparison to those of the

general population narrows remarkably with advancing age (11).

2.1.2 Treatment of Diabetes

The primary goal of therapy for diabetes is the prevention of acute and chronic complications, that is, the maintenance of the patient's health (3). Improving metabolic control, such that blood glucose level is near-normal, will prevent long term complications for most diabetic patients (1;3;13-15). *Type 1 Diabetes.* Multiple daily injections of insulin are required for all patients with type 1 diabetes. Treatment regimen should also include a carefully calculated diet, planned physical activity, and home blood glucose

monitoring (3).

Type 2 Diabetes. In addition to diet and exercise, oral medication and/or insulin are typically included in the treatment regimen of a type 2 diabetic patient. Approximately 40% of these individuals require insulin (3).

2.1.3 Chronic Complications of Diabetes

The main long-term complications of diabetes include neuropathy, microvascular disease, including retinopathy and nephropathy, as well as macrovasular disease, such as ischemic heart disease, stroke, and atherosclerotic peripheral vascular disease (1;3).

2.1.3.1 Cardiovascular Morbidity

Although diabetes usually co-exists with other major risk factors of

cardiovascular disease, it has been shown to be an independent contributor to coronary artery disease, stroke, and peripheral vascular disease (3;16). People with diabetes have up to six times the risk of heart disease as do people without diabetes (1). Approximately 21% of the people with diabetes compared with 4% of those without this disease have cardiac disease or are suffering from the effects of a stroke (1).

2.1.3.2 Mortality and Diabetes

Diabetic persons experience very high mortality, especially from vascular disease, compared to the general population (11;17-19). A national survey in the United States estimated that among diabetic men and women, about 75% and 57%, respectively, of the excess mortality was attributable to cardiovascular discase (18). Within the Multiple Risk Factor Intervention Trial (MRFIT) (17), more than 5000 diabetic persons were followed for 12 years and were compared to 350 000 nondiabetic subjects. The risk of cardiovascular death a 12-year followup was almost three times higher in diabetic males compared to nondiabetic controls, regardless of age, ethnic group, blood cholesterol level, systolic blood pressure, or tobacco use. Even when patients had optimal systolic blood pressure control and were nonsmokers, the relative risk of cardiovascular death remained five times higher among diabetic persons than among controls (17;20). From recent statistics, diabetes ranks as the seventh leading cause of death in Canada and the United States (1,18). However, as a result of underreporting on

many death certificates (16;21), the actual number of deaths for which this disease is a contributing factor is probably five times higher than the reported number (1).

2.1.3.3 Economic Burden

In Canada, approximately 25 000 potential years of life lost (PYLL) were lost as a result of diabetes prior to age 75 in 1996 (1). In addition, the direct and indirect health care costs, including lost productivity due to diabetes-related illness and premature death from diabetes and its related complications, is estimated between 5-10 billion dollars annually (1;2).

2.1.4 Risk Factors for Diabetic Complications

There are a number of documented risk factors for diabetic complications, including smoking, dyslipidemia, physical inactivity, and microalbuminuria (1;7;17;22). Hypertension has also been shown to be a strong predictor of morbidity and mortality in persons with diabetes (1;17).

2.2 Hypertension

Arterial hypertension is a disorder characterized by high blood pressure, including a systolic blood pressure consistently greater than 140mmHg and/or a diastolic blood pressure consistently greater than 90mmHg. It is probably the most important health problem in developed countries (1;3). Hypertension may have no identifiable cause, in which case,

it is referred to as *essential* hypertension. An elevated blood pressure may also be an associated manifestation of some other disorder (for example, pheochromocytoma, kidney disease, adrenal tumors, coarctation of the aorta), in which case it is referred to as *secondary* hypertension. Approximately 90% of all hypertensive individuals have the former type of hypertension (3).

2.2.1 Prevalence

According to the 1990 Heart Health Survey that actually measured participants' blood pressure, 26% of men and 18% of women in Canada have hypertension (1;23;24). At ages 18-24 years, 6% of men and 1% of women have high blood pressure. From that age on, there is a steady increase in the prevalence of this disorder (1). After age 65 years, the prevalence of hypertension approaches 50% (1;25). Data from the Framingham study has shown no change in prevalence in four decades (26).

2.2.2 Morbidity and Mortality in Hypertension

As with diabetes, longstanding hypertension affects multiple organ systems, including cardiovascular, renal and ocular (1;23;27;28). The risk of complications is further enhanced when it clusters with other risk factors such as dyslipidemia, obesity, diabetes and insulin resistance (1). The coexistence of these factors may increase the risk of cardiovascular disease up to 10-fold (29).

2.2.3 Management of Hypertension

The Canadian Hypertension Society (23) and the Joint National Committee on Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Pressure in the United States (30) provide North American physicians with guidelines regarding the use of antihypertensive drug therapy. Although the resources for the diagnosis of hypertension are readily available in Canada, this disease remains poorly managed (23-25;31). Only about 50% of Canadians with high blood pressure are aware of their condition and among those with the disease, only one third have adequate blood pressure control (23-25).

2.2.3.1 Non-pharmacologic Management

The control of high blood pressure should initially consist of lifestyle modifications including weight loss, exercise, healthy diet, and avoiding heavy alcohol use. Other recommendations consist of adequate patient education, close blood pressure monitoring by a physician, and self-blood pressure assessment. If the control is inadequate despite nonpharmacologic measures, a medication should be considered (23;24).

2.2.3.2 Pharmacologic Management

It is evident from the available literature that antihypertensive therapy significantly reduces morbidity and mortality from cardiac disease, renal failure, and stroke among hypertensive patients (23;32-38). The classes of antihypertensive drugs available to treat high blood pressure are diuretics,

beta-blockers, calcium antagonists, angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors, angiotensin II antagonists, peripheral vasodilators, centrally acting agents, and alpha-blockers (39). The preferred agents for initial drug use in the Canadian guidelines are beta-blockers and diuretics because they have both been shown to consistently reduce morbidity and mortality (23:39:40) If therapy with these drugs fails or is contraindicated, then a second line agent is added or substituted. Therapy should be individualized for all patients, that is, it should be tailored to one's personal profile of risk factors. An attempt should be made to treat high blood pressure and coexisting diseases with a single agent (23). For example, subjects with a history of ischemic heart disease, such as angina or myocardial infarction, beta-blockers or angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors (ACE-I) serve as the best therapeutic option (23;41). In the presence of congestive heart failure, ACE-I would be considered the most appropriate choice of medication (23;23;39;40;42). Another associated disease that would modify treatment of hypertension is diabetes (23). However, in recent years there has been much controversy with respect to different classes of agents actually worsening prognosis in this subset of patients by increasing cardiovascular morbidity and mortality.

2.3 Diabetes and Hypertension

2.3.1 Epidemiology of Hypertension in Diabetic Patients.

Hypertension is a common comorbid condition occurring at least twice as frequently in patients with type 1 and type 2 diabetes than in the nondiabetic population (43-47). Among type 2 diabetic adults, approximately 50% also have preexisting hypertension at the time of diagnosis of their diabetes and among those patients without preexisting hypertension, they are more than twice as likely to develop this condition (48).

2.3.2 Morbidity and Mortality due to Hypertension in Diabetic Patients

The coexistence of these two disorders will accelerate the progression of macrovascular disease (44;46;49;50) and microvascular disease, including nephropathy (51) and retinopathy (52) It is estimated that 35-75% of all diabetic complications may be attributed to hypertension (44;46;49;50;53). In addition, mortality secondary to cardiovascular pathology increases by 2.5-7.2-fold in this population (46). Eighty percent of diabetic mortality is thought to be directly related to macrovascular complications (46).

Hypertension in Diabetes Study. The Hypertension in Diabetes Study, embedded within the United Kingdom Prospective Diabetes Study (UKPDS), was one of the first studies that attempted to characterize the incidence of fatal and nonfatal cardiovascular events in newly diagnosed type 2 diabetic patients, according to the presence or absence of hypertension (54). Among

the 3648 diabetic patients, hypertension was present in 35% of women and 46% of men. When compared to normotensive diabetic patients, the mortality risk associated with hypertension was doubled over a median followup period of 4.6 years. Cardiac events, including sudden death, accounted for 58% and stroke accounted for 13% of all causes of death. The risk of stroke was increased 4-fold in diabetic hypertensive subjects and there was a greater than 50% increased risk of myocardial infarction.

The Appropriate Blood Pressure Control (ABCD) Trial. The relation between hypertension and vascular complications among non-insulin dependent diabetic people was also examined among the 950 patients enrolled in the ABCD study (55). Systolic and diastolic hypertension were both identified as strong risk factors for nephropathy, peripheral vascular disease, left ventricular hypertrophy, as well as, coronary artery disease and cerebrovascular disease.

2.3.3 Mechanism for Hypertension in Diabetes

Many pathophysiologic changes are associated with the development of hypertension in diabetes.

Vascular reactivity. Firstly, an increase in total exchangeable body sodium concentration of about 10% and an increase in vascular reactivity to various vasoconstrictors has been described in diabetic patients (48;56).

Furthermore, a subgroup of these patients may be "salt-sensitive", as defined by a heightened vasoconstrictive response for a given salt load (an increase

in systolic blood pressure by more than 10mmHg) compared to "salt-resistant" individuals. Therefore, some of the abnormal hemodynamic responses observed in the diabetic state may be due to this altered vascular reactivity (56).

Hyperinsulinemia. It has been suggested that hyperinsulinemia in subjects with insulin resistance is responsible for blood pressure elevation (57;58). Loss of lean body mass and an increase in adipose tissue, particularly visceral body fat, is generally associated with aging. It is now known that insulin resistance is correlated with these phenomena. This resistance leads to an increased release of free fatty acids by the visceral fat into the portal system, and ultimately leads to an overproduction of triglycerides (56;58). There are two possible ways that insulin may elevate blood pressure. First, hyperinsulinemia has been shown to increase sodium reabsorption and decrease sodium excretion in humans (58;59). It has also been demonstrated that high levels of insulin increase sympathetic nervous system activity by stimulating a rise in circulating levels of catecholamines (58). Another mechanism by which hyperinsulinemia contributes to the development of hypertension is via its effects on vascular remodeling and actually exacerbating the atherosclerotic changes on the endothelium (58). Interestingly, in one recent study (60), troglitazone, an oral hypoglycemic agent which improves insulin resistance was found to lower blood pressure. These results further strengthen the association between hypertension and hyperinsulinemia in subjects with diabetes. However, in some populations,

such as the Pima Indians and the Mexican-Americans, certain epidemiological studies have actually failed to demonstrate the link between plasma insulin concentration and hypertension. Therefore, it is probable that insulin resistance and hyperinsulinemia alone are insufficient for the development of hypertension (58).

2.3.4 Pathogenesis of Atherosclerosis in Diabetes and Hypertension

Several mechanisms acting together play an important role in mediating the pathogenesis of vascular disease in the diabetic hypertensive patient. Some of the more important mechanisms of cardiovascular injury will be outlined briefly in the following section.

Platelet adhesion and aggregation. Platelet adhesion and aggregation are often aggravated in the presence of diabetes and hypertension. It appears that intracellular calcium and magnesium metabolism play an important role in the enhanced platelet reactivity in these patients. Platelet aggregation is associated with an elevated calcium concentration, whereas an increase in magnesium concentration can exert an inhibitory effect on platelet aggregation. It has been demonstrated that in many patients with hypertension and diabetes there exists an imbalance between the relative intracellular concentrations of these cations. More specifically, intracellular concentrations of calcium and magnesium are increased and decreased, respectively, leading to increased platelet aggregation (61-64).

adhesion molecules, which promote further the attachment of platelets, monocytes, and leukocytes (20;63).

Coagulation abnormalities. Hypercoagulation and disturbances of the fibrinolytic system have been reported to be associated with coexistence of hypertension and diabetes. Higher than normal levels of a number of coagulation factors contribute to a procoagulant state (61;62).

Insulin resistance and lipoprotein abnormalities. As mentioned previously, hyperinsulinemia is believed to be one of the initiating mechanisms for blood pressure elevation in diabetic individuals (57;58). This insulin-resistant state is also associated with an array of lipoprotein abnormalities, such as unusually elevated levels of low-density lipoproteins and diminished levels of high-density lipoproteins (20,57,61-63). This particular derangement of lipoproteins is a well-known risk factor for cardiovascular disease. Likewise, insulin stimulates the production of two other atherogenic factors, endothelin and plasminogen activator inhibitor (61). Endothelial dysfunction. Dysfunction of the vascular endothelium contributes to the pathogenesis of cardiovascular disease in subjects with coexisting diabetes and hypertension (20;61;62). For example, the production of nitric oxide, a potent vasodilator, is impaired. Patients with decreased nitric oxide levels are predisposed to increased production of certain vasoconstrictors, such as prostaglandins, endothelin, and platelet and vascular growth factors, which synergistically enhance vasomotor tone and vascular remodeling (20;61).

Role of IGF-1. IGF-1 may also participate in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis in this population through influences on vascular endothelial cells and vascular smooth muscle cells (62).

Hyperglycemia. Chronic hyperglycemia has many direct toxic effects on vascular endothelial cells. This toxicity leads to diminished endothelium-mediated vascular relaxation, increased vasoconstriction, promotion of vascular smooth muscle cell hyperplasia, vascular remodeling, and atherosclerotic changes (61;62).

2.3.5 Management of Hypertension in Diabetic Patients.

2.3.5.1 Blood Pressure Reduction.

According to the current Canadian guidelines (23), hypertension in people with diabetes should be treated aggressively to obtain a target blood pressure below 130/80 mmHg. As previously discussed, drug management of hypertension in nondiabetic subjects significantly reduces cardiovascular disease and death (23;33-38). Findings from the United Kingdom Prospective Diabetes Study (UKPDS) (65;66) and the Hypertension Optimal Treatment (HOT) (67) trial clearly indicate that tight blood pressure control significantly reduces the risk of cardiovascular complications and diabetesrelated mortality.

The UKPDS (65) was a randomized control trial designed to compare tight blood pressure control aiming at a blood pressure of less than 150/85

mmHg (with the use of the ACE-I captopril or the β -blocker atenolol as initial treatment) with less tight control aiming at a blood pressure of less than 180/105 mmHg (with the use of the loop diuretic furosemide, the calcium channel blocker nifedipine, methlydopa, or prazosin but avoiding ACE-I and β -blockers). A total of 1148 hypertensive patients with type 2 diabetes were followed for median of 8.4 years. The study achieved a mean difference in systolic blood pressure of 10 mmHg and in diastolic blood pressure of 5 mmHg. Despite this small difference in blood pressure levels between the two groups, the tight control group demonstrated a significant reduction in the risks for most of the endpoints. In the intention-to-treat analysis, intensive management of hypertension significantly reduced the risks of developing any diabetes-related endpoint by 24%, deaths related to diabetes by 32%, strokes by 44%, and microvascular endpoints by 37%.

The HOT trial (67) assessed optimal diastolic blood pressure control by stratifying patients into three treatment groups with goals of less than 90 mmHg, less than 85 mmHg, and less than 80 mmHg. All individuals were initially treated with the long-acting calcium antagonist, felodipine, followed by the addition ACE-I, β -blockers, or diuretics if needed to achieve blood pressure targets. In contrast to the overall study population (n=18790), analysis of data from the diabetic subpopulation(n=1501) found a decrease in major cardiovascular events in relation to target blood pressure. In the group randomly assigned to diastolic blood pressure control of less than 80 mmHg, the risk of these endpoints was 50% lower compared with the group assigned

to diastolic blood pressure control of less than 90 mmHg.

The findings from these two important studies suggest that reducing blood pressure must take precedence in caring for patients with type 2 diabetes. They do not address the issue of prioritizing individual classes of antihypertensive agents (65;68-70).

2.3.5.2 Pharmacotherapy of Hypertension in Diabetic Patients

Several classes of medications are available for the treatment of hypertension in this specific population (39;46): diuretics, β -blockers, calcium antagonists, angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors, angiotensin II antagonists, peripheral vasodilators, centrally acting agents, and alphablockers (39). The ideal drug for hypertensive patients with diabetes should not only lower blood pressure but should also not adversely affect metabolic control of glucose and lipids. Other important considerations when choosing a specific agent include the prevention or slowed progression of renal disease, as well as, the reduction in long-term cardiovascular complications and mortality (20;46;69;71).

2.3.5.3 Metabolic Issues in Hypertensive Patients with Diabetes

The major metabolic side effects of different classes of antihypertensive agents are summarized in Appendix 1. Please note that *thiazide diuretics* will be referred to as *diuretics* from here on.

Diuretics have been the first-line treatment for hypertension for over 30

years (71), however, they have been an unpopular choice for diabetic people because many studies have indicated they may impair glucose tolerance and actually aggravate control of diabetes. Diuretics potentially increase lowdensity lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol concentrations and decrease highdensity lipoprotein (HDL) cholesterol concentration, thereby increasing risk of atherogenesis (20;46;58;69;71;72). Of note, these metabolic derangements are most evident at higher doses. Other disadvantages of this class of medication include hypokalemia, hypomagnesemia, and hyperuricemia, but once again these side effects are minimized at the low doses that are currently recommended (58). There are several concerns that limit the usefulness of β -blockers in treating patients with diabetes (58). Chronic administration of these medications is usually accompanied by a rise in insulin resistance (58;71) and a decrease in insulin secretion (72), consequently, adversely affecting glycemic control (20;69). In addition, β blockers may increase triglyceride and decrease HDL cholesterol levels (46;58;69;72). Although these metabolic alterations are associated mostly with nonselective β -blockers, cardioselective agents may also lead to an increase in triglyceride levels (46). Unfortunately, the risks of hypoglycemia unawareness are increased with β -blockers because these medications prevent the common warning symptoms of hypoglycemia, including tremors and palpitations (46;58). Calcium channel blockers have no apparent adverse effect on carbohydrate and lipid metabolism (20;69;71;72). Although there were initial reports of improvement in glycemic control with

ACE-I (72), it is now believed that they have neutral effects on lipid and glucose control (58;69;72). α -blockers are recognized to improve insulin sensitivity and have a mildly beneficial effect on lipid profile. They have been noted to reduce levels of total cholesterol, triglycerides, and increase HDL cholesterol (20;46;71;72). Centrally acting α_2 - receptor agonists and peripheral vasodilators are metabolically neutral with respective to lipid and carbohydrate metabolism. Information on these agents in diabetic patients is scarce because they have not been widely investigated (46).

2.3.5.4 Renoprotection and Antihypertensive Therapy in Diabetic Patients

The results from trials involving β -blockers and diuretics showed no independent renal benefit in hypertensive diabetic patients, other than that associated with the reduction in blood pressure (48;73;74). β -blockers have been shown to reduce albuminuria and to preserve glomerular filtration rate in diabetic hypertensive patients, however their effects appear to be entirely related to the degree of arterial pressure reduction, without any independent effect on preservation of renal function (73). ACE-I prevent microalbuminuria in diabetic patients (48;75). These effects have been shown to be independent of the blood pressure reduction caused by these agents (46;48;58). The effects of the dihydropyridine calcium antagonists (for example, nifedipine) on renoprotection is controversial (76;77). On the other hand,

nondihydropyridine calcium antagonists (for example diltiazem or verapamil) have been shown to have positive effects on kidney function (46;48;58;62;76). α -adrenergic antagonists and centrally-acting α_2 -receptor agonists have never been evaluated in clinical trials with regards to efficacy in slowing renal disease progression (48;73;74).

2.4 Antihypertensive Therapy in Diabetic patients and Risk of Cardiovascular disease

So far, the epidemiology of hypertension in diabetes, as well as the impact of hypertension on the clinical course and development of vascular complications have been discussed. In addition, the benefits of blood pressure reduction have been reviewed. Therefore, treatment must reduce blood pressure, minimize metabolic side effects and protect renal function. Likewise, optimal high blood pressure therapy requires consideration of the cardiovascular and cerebrovascular potentials of the treatment. Over the last decade a number of observational studies and randomized clinical trials have reported variable results with respect to cardiovascular outcomes with different classes of antihypertensive medications. Subsequently, these reports have provided new insight into the role of agents available for blood pressure reduction.

The objective of the following section is to summarize the findings of these recent observational studies and clinical trials.

2.4.1 Review of Evidence from Observational Studies

Many population-based studies analyzing the effects of various antihypertensive drugs on cardiovascular outcome in the general population have been published. These studies reported various adverse effects with certain agents, specifically with calcium channel blockers (49;78;79). A few observational studies have been conducted specifically in the diabetic population. Appendix 2 provides a brief summary of these studies.

Warram et al. (80) observed in a cohort study of 759 diabetic subjects with a median followup of 4.5 years that cardiovascular mortality was 3.8 times higher in patients treated with diuretics alone than in patients with untreated hypertension. After the findings from the Fosinopril versus Amlodipine Cardiovascular Events Randomized Trial (FACET) (81) were published indicating that patients treated with an ACE-I had a lower rate of major vascular events than patients treated with a calcium antagonist, two other researchers re-analyzed their databases by diabetes status (82;83). In the Established Populations Epidemiologic Studies in the Elderly (EPESE) by Pahor et al. (79;82;84), a cohort of elderly hypertensive patients were followed for five years. Among the diabetic subset of patients, there was a higher mortality rate (risk ratio=3.27) for users of the calcium antagonist nifedipine compared to β -blockers. This finding compares to a risk ratio of 1.36 among the nondiabetic subjects. Similarly, Alderman observed in a case control study of 387 hypertensive patients, that among those with diabetes (n=34), patients treated with calcium antagonists had a 5-fold increased risk

of cardiovascular events as compared to those treated with other antihypertensive agents (49;83). In another case-control study (n=216) (85), the risk of myocardial infarction in hypertensive patients with diabetes treated with calcium channel blockers was twice that of patients treated with ACE-I or diuretics. Another retrospective cohort study of 266 diabetic subjects using either a calcium antagonist or a β -blocker found that the odds ratio for overall mortality was 1.78 in calcium antagonist users relative to β -blocker users (86). Verdacchia et al. (87;88) conducted another retrospective cohort analysis of 164 diabetic hypertensive patients enrolled in the PIUMA (Progetto Ipertensione Umbria Monitoraggio Ambulatoriale) registry. None of the subjects had preexisting cardiovascular morbid events. The analysis revealed that the use of calcium channel blockers was not associated with an excess risk of cardiovascular events.

In summary, only one study found an excess risk associated with diuretics (80). As for the remaining observational studies, in all of them (82;83;85;86) except one (88), there was as excess risk of cardiovascular disease associated with the use of calcium channel antagonists.

2.4.1.1 Critical Appraisal of Observational Studies in Diabetics

The validity of the results of the observational studies have been criticized because of the presence of important methodological flaws (89;90;92). In some studies (80;82;83;85;86), the decision to prescribe calcium channel blockers by the physician for the treatment of hypertension

may have been influenced by factors associated with cardiovascular disease risk. A proportion of the subjects participating had previous history of cardiovascular disease and at the time these studies were conducted, calcium channel blockers were widely used for the treatment of coronary heart disease (91;92). Therefore, confounding by indication may be a possible explanation for the study findings. In addition, in all these population-based studies (80;82;83;85;86;88), prevalent cases of hypertension were used and past history of drug use was not accounted for properly. Therefore, study subjects were at different moments in the course of their disease and patients with more severe disease or more difficult to control hypertension may have been prescribed second line agents, such as calcium antagonists. Another potential concern with the use of prevalent subjects is the depletion of susceptible phenomenon. Noncompliant subjects and those individuals unable to tolerate their medication will not be included in the analysis. Furthermore, underestimation of the true risk may occur because hypertensive individuals with highest risk may have already experienced the study outcome or may have died. Exclusion of these events may bias the true risk toward the null. Finally, exposure was not clearly defined in some studies (83;85;86). For example, in one particular study (86), exposure was measured at the inclusion time only. There was no mention of modifications during the followup time or the exposure at the time of the event. While in other studies only exposure at the time of the event was used, irrespective of prior history of exposure patterns such as switching or

long duration.

2.4.2 Review of the Evidence and Critical Appraisal of Clinical Trials

An outline of the clinical trials evaluating antihypertensive therapy in diabetic subjects is presented in Appendix 3. Only the first three trials were conducted specifically in diabetic populations (55;81;93). For the most part, diabetic subjects are considered in subgroup analyses (94-101).

Appropriate Blood Pressure Control (ABCD) Trial. The ABCD trial (55) was a prospective, randomized blinded trial with type II diabetic subjects. It was conducted to determine the effects of intensive and moderate blood pressure control and to compare the effects of a calcium antagonist nisoldipine and the ACE-I enalapril. The primary outcome measure was glomerular filtration rate. Cardiovascular outcomes were monitored as secondary endpoints. The study included two populations aged 40-74 years: 470 hypertensive patients who had diastolic blood pressure greater than 90 mmHg and 480 normotensive patients. Patients were randomized to receive either intensive antihypertensive drug therapy or moderate antihypertensive therapy. Study subjects were also randomized to double-blinded nisoldipine or enalapril. After a mean followup of 5 years, the Data and Safety Monitoring Board (DSMB) recommended early termination of the hypertensive arm of the trial because of a 5-fold increase in fatal and nonfatal acute myocardial infarction in the nisoldipine group compared to the enalapril group

(25/235 events vs. 5/235 events; RR 5.5: 95% CI 2.2-14.6). This trial has been widely criticized (68;69;92;102-106). The authors of the study also acknowledge that the results should be viewed with caution since the findings are based on secondary endpoints (55). In addition, the study was based at one site only. The ABCD trial had no placebo group; therefore, the differences are possibly due to a beneficial effect of the ACE-I or a deleterious effect of the calcium channel blockers (69;105;106). A comparison of the incidence of myocardial infarction among diabetics randomly assigned to calcium antagonists with other published trials suggests that the rate of myocardial infarction was not significantly different than historical controls (105). Another important factor is that a higher proportion of patients in the ACE-I group were receiving β -blockers concurrently (55) and perhaps these subjects had more cardioprotection (107).

Fosinopril versus Amlodipine Cardiovascular Events Randomized Trial (FACET). Another study that contributed to the concern of calcium antagonists was FACET (81). It was an open-label study that randomly assigned 380 hypertensive patients with diabetes to either the ACE-I fosinopril or the calcium antagonist amlodipine and it followed the participants for up to 3.5 years. The primary outcome was the changes in total cholesterol concentration; the secondary outcome was the combined incidence of cardiovascular events. Treatment failures on fosinopril had amlodipine added and vice versa. Patients randomly assigned to fosinopril were approximately

50% less likely to experience major cardiovascular events than patients assigned to calcium antagonists (14/189 [7%] vs. 27/191 [14%]; RR 0.49: 95%CI 0.26-0.95). Once again, these results are based on secondary endpoints and the interpretation of the data is difficult because of the combined use of the study drugs in each group. There was a substantial crossover to combination therapy since amlodipine was added to 37% of fosinopril patients and fosinopril was added to 36% of the amlodipine patients.

As with the ABCD trial (55), FACET (81) was largely criticized (68;104;108-111) mainly for its open-label design and the fact that it was conducted in one health care center, thereby allowing sponsor and investigator bias (108). Furthermore, the higher microalbuminuria levels at baseline in the amlodipine group signify a possible higher cardiovascular risk in these individuals (112;113). Finally, the incidence of events was lowest in patients treated with both fosinopril and amlodipine and, therefore, this may suggest that combination therapy is the preferable choice of treatment (69;108;109).

United Kingdom Prospective Diabetes Study (UKPDS). One of the aims of the UKPDS (93) was to determine whether blood pressure control with the ACE-I captopril or the β -blocker atenolol had specific advantages with respect to macrovascular, microvascular, renal, and cardiovascular complications. Of note, this study was not particularly designed to compare
differing classes of antihypertensive agents, but rather to compare the effects of tight blood pressure control and moderate blood pressure control. In this trial, there was no difference in outcomes between the captopril and atenolol. A trend to fewer sudden deaths with β -blocker than with ACE-I was not significant. Interestingly, 31% of patients in the ACE-I group and 40% in the atenolol group were concurrently on a calcium antagonist by the end of followup.

Multicenter Isradipine Diuretic Atherosclerotic Study (MIDAS). MIDAS (98;99) was a 3-year, randomized trial designed to compare the effect of the calcium antagonist isradipine to the diuretic hydrochlorothiazide on the progression of carotid intimal medial thickness as assessed by carotid ultrasound. Subjects consisted of 883 hypertensive patients with the initial exclusion of diabetic subjects. Cardiovascular outcomes were analyzed as secondary endpoints. Despite the initial exclusion of subjects with diabetes, patients were stratified according to the baseline level of glycosylated hemoglobin (a measure of glucose control). It was found that the relative risk for major events with isradipine compared to hydrochlorothiazide was 2.81 (95% CI 1.09-7.26) among those with poorer glycemic control. Therefore, these findings indicated that hypertensive patients with glucose intolerance responded unfavorably to calcium channel blockers. Of note, these results are based on a total of 21 events over 3 years.

Two other randomized trials that focused on hypertension in the elderly

have also examined their findings in the the diabetic subgroup of patients (95;96;100).

Systolic Hypertension in the Elderly Program (SHEP) Study. SHEP evaluated the efficacy of a diuretic, chlothalidone, with placebo in 4736 elderly hypertensive patients (95). Outcomes included cardiac events, strokes, and mortality. A subgroup analysis of the 583 subjects with diabetes demonstrated that the incidence of cardiovascular events was reduced by 34% with diuretic therapy. Of note, these results contradict the findings in the observational study by Warram (80) that found an increase in cardiovascular mortality in patients receiving a diuretic-based therapy.

Systolic Hypertension in Europe (Sys-Eur) Trial. In the subgroup analysis from Sys-Eur trial (96;100) (n=4203), active treatment with the calcium antagonist nitredipine, alone or in combination with an ACE-I or a diuretic, reduced mortality among diabetic patients (n=492) by 55%, mortality from cardiovascular disease by 76%, stoke by 73%, and cardiac events by 69% compared with placebo.

Although the authors of SHEP (95) and Sys-Eur (96;100) trials both recognize the results are based on post-hoc analysis, they argue these findings are suggestive of the beneficial effects of diuretics and calcium antagonists in the prevention of cardiovascular events in hypertensive subjects with diabetes. However, other experts argue that these two studies

do not address the issue of safety of antihypertensive medications since the comparison groups in both studies were placebo groups (68;84;114). In the Sys-Eur study, along with receiving the calcium antagonist, more than 50% of patients in the active treatment arm were concurrently on ACE-I and diuretics. The authors chose not to provide more details on the effect of calcium antagonists alone. Another limitation of the Sys-Eur study was that a large number a subjects were lost to followup (n=337) compared with the number of primary events (n=124) (96;100).

Captopril Prevention Project Randomized Trial (CAPPP). The CAPPP trial was a randomized open-label trial comparing the effects of an ACE-I and conventional therapy (including diuretics and β -blockers) in 10 985 hypertensive subjects (97). The primary outcome was a composite endpoint of fatal and nonfatal myocardial infarction, stroke, and other cardiovascular deaths. In the post-hoc analysis of 572 patients with diabetes, the primary endpoint was reduced by about 40% in the captopril arm compared to conventional therapy. Some (115) have criticized the post-hoc analysis of such a small group of diabetic patients (n=572) compared to a large number of nondiabetic patients (n=10 393). Also, the authors do not provide any concise information with regards to the number of patients on β -blockers and/or diuretics in the conventional treatment arm (97). These two drug classes have been clearly shown to differ with respect to their effects on hemodynamics, target organs, and cardiovascular outcome (40;116).

Heart Outcomes Prevention Evaluation (HOPE) Study. The HOPE trial (94;101)was a double-blind, 2x2 factorial randomized study evaluating the effects of the ACE-I ramipril and vitamin E in 9541 patients who were at least 55 years old and had a history of coronary artery disease, peripheral vascular disease, or diabetes plus at least one other cardiovascular risk factor (hypertension, dyslipidemia, smoking). The diabetic subgroup consisted of 3577 patients, of which approximately 56% had hypertension. The primary study endpoint was the composite of myocardial infarction, stroke, or death from cardiovascular causes. Subjects on ramipril had a 25-30% lower risk of major cardiovascular outcomes. The two groups were well matched with respect to medications, including aspirin, lipid-lowering agents, β -blockers, diuretics, and calcium antagonist. The results are not available specifically for the diabetic patients with hypertension alone (n=2003). Ramipril was not given to the treatment arm as an antihypertensive agent. Subjects without hypertension were on this medication if they were randomized to the active treatment arm and those individuals with a history of high blood pressure were already being treated by their physicians with other agents. Worth noting, this study had low power to detect different effects in the subgroups.

2.5 Conclusion

At present, ACE-I are the standard choice of therapy in diabetic patients (41) with proteinuria (75) and CHF (42). Post-myocardial infarction, ACE-I (41) and β -blockers (117) are recommended. Despite evidence from several randomized clinical trials and observational studies, the controversy regarding the best antihypertensive treatment in diabetic subjects without cardiovascular disease remains controversial, especially with respect to the use of calcium antagonists. Several of these studies have found an increased risk associated with calcium antagonists compared to placebo or other agents, while others have obtained conflicting results.

Despite criticisms of the observational studies, they provide valuable information because these studies are conducted in the real world of everyday clinical practice. It is evident that efforts should be made to eliminate or control factors capable of biasing the results. In particular, an observational study should not only rely on prevalent hypertensive patients and should consider exposure throughout the entire followup.

Chapter Three - METHODS

This chapter describes the study design and the methodology employed to assess the risk of cardiovascular disease with the use of antihypertensive drugs in diabetic patients with uncomplicated hypertension.

3.1 Overview of the Study Design

A nested case-control analysis of a cohort was used to evaluate the risk of cardiovascular disease and antihypertensive drug use among diabetic patients with newly acquired, uncomplicated hypertension in the context of actual medical practice. Cohort members were recruited from the health insurance databases of the province of Saskatchewan. Drug markers were used to identify patients with diabetes and hypertension. Patients who were dispensed a first prescription for an antihypertensive drug between January 1, 1980 and December 31, 1986 were eligible for cohort entry. Among these subjects, patients dispensed an antihyperglycemic drug between January 1, 1976 and December 31, 1986 were identified.

Incident cases of cardiovascular disease that occurred between cohort entry and the end of followup were identified. Risk sets were formed consisting of each case and all potential controls matched to the case on the date of cohort entry and time at risk. Ten controls were randomly chosen from each risk set. A current-use time window was measured for all antihypertensive medications. Conditional logistic regression was used to

calculate crude and adjusted rate ratios for cardiovascular disease with the use of each class of antihypertensive drug. Effect modification was also assessed for some covariates.

3.2 Sources of Data

For the purposes of this study, information will be obtained from the computerized databases of the Saskatchewan Health Branch. Although data is collected purely for administrative purposes, it also functions as an excellent source of data for pharmacoepidemiologic research (118;119). This organization is responsible for administering universally insured health care services to approximately 95% of the 1.3 million inhabitants of this Canadian province. Registered Native Canadians, members of the armed forces, and member of the Royal Canadian Mounted Police who altogether compromise 5% of the Saskatchewan population, are recipients of health insurance plans administered by the federal government and are therefore ineligible for provincial coverage. Of note, plan membership is not based on socioeconomic status. Since this is a universal health database, studies carried out using this information provide knowledge regarding the health status of the entire population (119;120).

The Saskatchewan Health Branch consists of several computerized databases, including, the Health Insurance Registration File, the Outpatient Prescription Drug Services Branch Database, and the Hospital Services Branch Database.

3.2.1 Health Insurance Registration File

The Health Insurance Registration File includes demographic data, such as name, address, sex, date of birth, date of death, social assistance status, as well as dates of effective coverage. This file is updated regularly; therefore, it is useful for providing valid denominator data. Residents of the province of Saskatchewan are entitled to receive benefits through the health care system once they have established residence and have registered for a Health Services Card. This card contains a nine-digit identification number that is a lifetime number, uniquely identifying each resident. This unique identification number is used to code almost all health care services and also serves as a link to other health datafiles (119).

3.2.2 Outpatient Prescription Drug Services Branch Database

This file includes outpatient prescriptions for all medications listed in the Saskatchewan Drug Formulary. The prescription of nonformulary medication is believed to be minimal because the formulary is comprehensive and is continuously being updated. Over 90% of all outpatient prescription drugs in the province are contained within the Prescription Drug Plan, representing over 2000 drug products. The addition of newer medications occurs on a regular basis subsequent to continuous review processes by expert committees. On a regular basis, a sample of paid claims is selected and sent to the beneficiaries for confirmation that the service paid for had been provided and that all of the information on the claim was correct

(119;120). There have been changes in data collection over the life of the database. From 1975 to June 1987 and from January 1989 (120) to date, information is collected on an individual basis. The information available for each prescription includes: beneficiary's unique identification number, the drug quantity, strength and dosage, as well as dispensing data. Information from July 1987 to December 1988 is incomplete because consumer-submitted claims were compiled by family unit rather than on an individual basis (119;120).

3.2.3 Hospital Services Branch Database

This datafile provides hospital discharge information for all beneficiaries, including primary and secondary discharge diagnosis, classified according to the International Classification, 9th revision (ICD-9) codes (121), and dates of admission and discharge. Reliability and validity has been evaluated in a number of studies (118;119;122). These datafiles have been shown to be accurate and comprehensive (119).

3.3 Ethical Consideration

Although information within the computerized databases of the Saskatchewan Health is available for research purposes, strict patient confidentiality is maintained. All data is provided to the researchers in a nonnominal basis. Saskatchewan Health Cross Agency Study Committee must review all requests for data and must provide consent before the release of

any information (119;120). Guidelines for the use of these databases are available and are explicitly detailed (120).

3.4 Definition of the Cohort

The first step was to identify all individuals with hypertension. By using the Outpatient Prescription Drug Services Branch Database, all those subjects with one or more prescriptions for an antihypertensive drug (Appendix 5) between January 1, 1980 and December 31,1986 were identified. Once the hypertensive subjects were found, the next goal was to identify individuals with coexisting diabetes. All persons with one or more prescriptions for an antihyperglycemic agent (Appendix 4) between January 1, 1976 and December 31, 1986 remained in the cohort. The next goal was to identify only those individuals with newly diagnosed hypertension. Therefore, only those subjects initiating an antihypertensive drug (Appendix 5) between 1980 and 1986 remained in the cohort. To confirm the incident nature of hypertension, patients who were dispensed at least one antihypertensive medication in the 24 months preceding the onset of the recruitment phase were excluded. Therefore, all diabetic hypertensive subjects identified during the recruitment phase had their drug file reviewed to ensure that hypertension had not been previously diagnosed. Then by using the unique identification number, individuals over 45 years old were identified by date of birth through the Health Registration File. Cohort members were restricted to only those subjects over 45 years of age in order to increase the

likelihood of the outcome event. The cohort entry date was the date of the first prescription of an antihypertensive agent. Of note, for the purposes of this study, it was essential to identify a period when agents from all classes were available. Incident cases of hypertension were excluded if their diagnosis was prior to January 1, 1980 because of the unavailability of calcium antagonist and ACE-I. In order to avoid confounding by indication, all subjects receiving antihypertensive medications for indications other than high blood pressure were excluded. Using the Outpatient Prescription Drug Services Branch Database, drug markers were used to identify any concurrent medical illness which would require a patient to take an antihypertensive drug. Subjects prescribed any of the following agents up to 2 years prior to cohort entry were eliminated from the cohort: nitrates (may be used for the treatment of ischemic heart disease), loop diuretics (congestive heart failure), anticoagulants (arrhythmia, ischemic heart disease), and antiarrhythmic agents (arrhythmia). In addition, files from the Hospital Branch Database were reviewed and subjects were excluded if they were admitted to hospital with cardiac disease and peripheral vascular disease as a primary or secondary diagnosis in the two years preceding cohort entry (Appendix 6).

In conclusion, all cohort members are diabetic subjects over 45 years of age with uncomplicated, newly diagnosed hypertension. All subjects were followed from cohort entry date up to the occurrence of an outcome measure, end of insurance coverage, or December 31, 1996.

3.5 Definition of Case Patients

The outcome is a combined endpoint including first hospitalization for acute myocardial infarction, unstable angina, other ischemic heart disease, heart failure, and stroke (Appendix 7). More specifically, a case is a subject who experienced any of these events requiring hospitalization after cohort entry. Events were identified between January 1, 1980 and December 31, 1996 in the primary and secondary discharge diagnosis of the Hospital Branch Database using ICD-9 codes (121). The index date for the cases is the date of the event.

3.6 Selection of Controls

For each case, risk sets were formed, including the case and all cohort members having initiated antihypertensive therapy in the same calender month and year. A random sample of 10 controls were chosen for each case among the risk sets. At the time of control selection, the subject was still at risk for a cardiovascular event. This sampling strategy allows a control to be included in multiple risk sets, as well as, allowing a case to be used as a control before the occurrence of an event. The date of matching was identified as the index date.

3.7 Drug Exposure

3.7.1 Current Use

For the purposes of this study, the exposure of interest is the current use of any class of antihypertensive drug: diuretics, β -blockers, angiotensinconverting enzyme inhibitors, calcium antagonists, or miscellaneous agents (peripheral vasodilators, centrally-acting α_2 -agonists, and alpha-blockers). Patients on multiple medications were considered to be exposed to all prescribed agents. The current use time-window was chosen to be exposure within 90 days prior to the index date. Five variables were created, each one representing current use of one of the classes.

3.7.2 Prior Use

Prior use of an antihypertensive drug use was defined as use between cohort entry and the 90-day current use time window. Five variables were created representing prior use of each category and, as for the current use analysis, these categories were not mutually exclusive.

3.7.3 Any Use

Any use of an antihypertensive medication was defined as use of any medication for high blood pressure between cohort entry and index date.

3.8 Confounders and Effect Modifiers

Based on prior studies, the following variables were identified as possible confounders or effect modifiers.

Patients characteristics. Demographic characteristics were identified including age at index date, sex, and whether or not they were receiving social assistance. These factors may influence the prescribing practice of physicians and they also affect a patient's risk for an event.

Prior Use of Antihypertensive Therapy. The history of the use of various and multiple antihypertensive medications was used as a proxy for more severe disease or more difficult to control hypertension. These individuals are possibly at higher risk for an event and their past history may also influence the physician's prescribing practice. In addition to its potential confounding effect, past use was considered as an effect-modifier that is, it may modify the effect of another drug in the current time window.

Duration of Diabetes. This was calculated from the date of the first prescription of an antihyperglycemic agent to the index date. Of note, for subjects initiating therapy for diabetes prior to January 1, 1976, there exists a potential for underestimating the duration of diabetes. Information prior to this date is unavailable. A dichotomous variable was created to indicate if subjects were initiated on antihyperglycemic medication less than 5 years or 5

years and more prior to the index date.

Type of Antihyperglycemic Therapy. Three indicator variables were created to indicate if subjects received oral hypoglycemic agents only, insulin only, or both.

Compliance to Antihypertensive Therapy. Compliance was defined as 9 or more prescriptions of an antihypertensive medication per a 12-month period. As prescription information was not available for hospitalizations, the number of hospitalization days were removed from the denominator. Therefore, the compliance to antihypertensive therapy for each individual was computed using the following equation:

Compliance = <u># of prescriptions * 365 days</u>

365 days - # days hospitalized

Therapy for Cardiovascular Disease Initiated During Followup. All cohort members had a diagnosis of uncomplicated hypertension. At the time of recruitment of subjects, it was ensured that no cardiac medications were dispensed in the 24 months prior to cohort entry and no hospitalization occurred for atherosclerotic disease during the same period. As discussed in the literature review, all diabetic, hypertensive patients are at high risk of cardiac disease. The members in this cohort were also at high risk of developing cardiac disease *not* requiring hospitalization during the followup.

Therefore, all prescription files were reviewed between cohort entry and index date and were screened for medications that were deemed to be drug markers for cardiovascular disease including, nitrates (angina), digoxin (arrhythmia, congestive heart failure), loop diuretics (congestive heart failure). Three variables were created- one for each drug marker. These drug markers were considered as confounders, as well as important effect modifiers.

Comorbidity. Certain drugs in a subject's prescription file may indicate the coexistence of another illness(Appendix 8). All cohort members' files were reviewed for such drug markers in the year preceding cohort entry.

3.9 Statistical Analysis

All analyses were performed using SAS statistical package. Odds ratios, as approximations to rate ratios (RR), and 95% confidence intervals (CI) were estimated using conditional logistic regression to account for the effect of matching. The summary outcome was the combined endpoint including first hospitalization for acute myocardial infarction, unstable angina, other ischemic heart disease, heart failure, and stroke. Crude RR were calculated for the risk of cardiovascular disease with the use of β -blockers, diuretics, angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitor, calcium antagonists, and miscellaneous classes (peripheral vasodilators, α_1 -blockers, centrally-acting α_2 -agonists). For all calculations, current use of diuretics was used as the

reference category. Crude RR were unadjusted for covariates, but were adjusted for current use of other antihypertensive medications. Individuals who discontinued their medication, that is, if there was no prescription in the 90-day current time window, were included in the analysis as a separate category to make sure that diuretic use remained the reference. Univariate analyses of the association between each potential confounder and the risk of cardiovascular disease was conducted.

Full multivariate models, adjusting for all potential confounding covariates, were performed. The following confounders were included in the final model: age, gender, social assistance, type of antihyperglycemic therapy, duration of diabetes, compliance to antihypertensive therapy, prior use of antihypertensive therapy, initiation of therapy during followup for cardiac disease, and comorbid illnesses. To determine whether a covariate was a significant confounder, the change-in-estimate method (a 10% change in OR estimate of current use of antihypertensive) was used. Three effect modifiers were considered in the analysis. First, to test the hypothesis that prior use of medication for high blood pressure may modify the effect of current use interaction terms were created between current use and prior use of antihypertensive therapy. Another effect modifier considered in the analysis was initiation of pharmacologic therapy for the treatment of angina (nitrates), congestive heart failure (loop diuretics, digoxin), and arrhythmia (digoxin) during followup. Finally, potential modification of the risk of one class of medication may exist by current use of another class. Consequently,

ten interaction terms were created among the five current-use variables and tested accordingly.

Crude and adjusted models were also performed for the *individual* cardiovascular endpoints including, acute myocardial infarction, unstable angina, other ischemic heart disease, congestive heart failure, and stroke.

Following the hypothesis that any use of antihypertensive therapy between cohort entry and index date could affect risk of cardiovascular disease, unadjusted and adjusted RRs with 95% CI were calculated using *any use* as the exposure of interest. For this analysis, diuretics were also used as the reference.

Chapter Four - RESULTS

The findings of this study will be presented in this chapter. First, the enumeration process of the cohort will be described. The next sections will contain the descriptive analysis of the cases and the controls, as well as the analysis of the risk of cardiovascular disease associated with the use of antihypertensive agents in a population of diabetic subjects.

4.1 Selection of the Cohort

The process of cohort selection is displayed in Figure 4.1. Using the Saskatchewan Health Database, 72047 hypertensive patients were identified, among which 10041 had a concurrent diagnosis of diabetes. However, 5789 beneficiaries were excluded because they had a diagnosis of prevalent hypertension, that is, hypertension was diagnosed before cohort entry. Only the 4252 subjects with incident hypertension between January 1, 1980 and December 31, 1987 were kept in the study cohort. Patients were also excluded if they were less than 45 years old (n=331) or if they had a prescription for a medication in the two years preceding cohort entry which served as a marker for any coexistent cardiovascular disease which may necessitate antihypertensive medications (n=1170). Moreover, subjects that were admitted to hospital with cardiovascular disease as a primary or secondary diagnosis were ineligible for entry in the study. Therefore, the final cohort consisted of 2499 diabetic subjects with newly diagnosed, uncomplicated hypertension.





4.2 Descriptive Analysis of the Case-Control Set

After cohort entry, 363 cases of cardiovascular disease were identified between January 1, 1980 and December 31 1996. However, 36 cases identified between July 1, 1987 and March 31, 1989 were excluded because, as previously mentioned, the information on outpatient prescriptions is incomplete during this period since consumer-submitted claims were compiled by family unit rather than on an individual basis. The 327 remaining cases are presented in Table 4.1 according to the ICD-9 system of classification. Approximately 28% of patients had a diagnosis of acute myocardial infarction. Coronary heart disease compromised 63% of patients, while only 17.7% and 19.3% of cases received diagnosis of heart failure and stroke, respectively.

Three hundred and twenty seven risk sets were formed. A random sample of 10 controls per case were chosen and matched to the case on the date of cohort entry. Table 4.2 characterizes the cases and controls in terms of demographic factors, duration of diabetes, treatment of diabetes, compliance to antihypertensive therapy, and comorbidity. In comparison to controls, cases were slightly older and a higher proportion were males. More controls were on insulin for the treatment of diabetes, whereas cases tended to be more on oral hypoglycemic agents only. To a small extent, compliance to antihypertensive therapy was superior among cases. The distribution of medication use was similar in the two groups. For duration of diabetes, a

dichotomous variable was created to indicate if pharmacologic therapy was begun more than 5 years prior to index date. As already described in the methods, precise information on prescriptions is unavailable for diabetic subjects that begun therapy before January 1, 1976. For patients with an index date between January 1,1980 and December 31, 1981, calculation of duration of diabetes is problematic. One hundred twenty one subjects with an index date during this period already had a prescription for an antidiabetic agent on January 1, 1976. All of these subjects were assumed to have at least 5 years duration of diabetes. This variable was equally distributed among cases and controls. For, example, a subject with an index date on March 1, 1980 AND a prescription for insulin on January 1,1976 may have a duration of diabetes for only 4.5 years. Precisely characterizing the duration of diabetes for this subject is impossible because information on the prescriptions of antihyperglycemic medications prior to 1976 is lacking. Therefore, in this scenario, it would have been assumed that this individual was on antidiabetic medications for at least 5 years.

Table 4.3 presents the distribution of antihypertensive drugs and other drugs in cases and controls. As for therapy with ACE-I, only one case and 19 controls were initiated on this class. More cases than controls begun antihypertensive therapy with β -blockers (20.2% versus 15.6%) and calcium antagonists (6.4% versus 2.9%). However, initial therapy with diuretics and other antihypertensive medications (including peripheral vasodilators, centrally-acting α_2 -agonists, and alpha-blockers) was more common among

controls. In terms of current drug use, more controls than cases (28.9% versus 22.6%) were not exposed to any agents in the 90 days prior to index date. On the other hand, cases had a higher tendency to be on multiple classes of antihypertensive medications in the current-use time window. Cases were more likely to be current users of calcium antagonists (15.3% versus 5.5%) and β -blockers (21.7% versus 14.4%). Once again, calcium antagonists were dispensed more frequently to cases (12.2% versus 8.0%) in the prior-use time window. Similarly, overall use of calcium antagonists and β -blockers was higher among cases than controls between cohort entry and index date. As expected, drug markers for cardiovascular disease, including nitrates, digoxin, and loop diuretics, were initiated more frequently in cases during the followup period.

Table 4.1 Hospital Discharge Diagnosis of the Cases

Cardiovascular Disease	ICD-9 Codes	n	Percent
Ischemic Heart Disease:			
Myocardial Infarction	410	91	27.8
Angina	413	43	13.2
Other	411,412,414	72	22.0
Heart failure	428	58	17.7
Stroke	433-437	63	19.3
		327	100

Characteristics	Cases (n=327)	Controls (n=3270)	
Age in years (mean ± SD) ¶	70.9 ± 9.8	67.6 ± 10.3	
Male (%)	62.7	49.8	
Social Assistance (%)*	8.3	7.7	
Duration of followup (mean in years) §	2.6	2.6	
Anti-diabetic Therapy (%) †			
Insulin only	18.4	23.8	
Oral hypoglycemic only	62.7	55.0	
Both	19.0	21.3	
Duration of diabetes (%) [‡]			
Less than 5 years	54.4	56.6	
5 years or greater	45.6	43.4	
Compliance to antihypertensive therapy (%)	28.8	25.0	
Medication use £			
Respiratory	8.3	8.0	
Lipid-lowering	3.7	2.4	
Glucocorticoids	4.0	4.6	
Neurotropic	27.5	26.9	
Anti-parkinsonian	0.3	1.0	
NSAIDs	35.2	39.0	
Anticonvulsant	3.1	3.3	
Anti-ulcer	12.8	11.9	

Table 4.2 Characteristics of Cases and Controls

¶ Age at index date

§ Followup defined: (index date - cohort entry date)
 * At cohort entry

† Anti-diabetic therapy evaluated from the first prescription of an antihyperglycemic agent to the index date

Prior to cohort entry

[‡] Duration of diabetes calculated in years from the first prescription of an antidiabetic agent to index date

	Cases (n=327)	Controls (3270)
Antihypertensive Medications		<u></u>
Initial Therapy (%)*		
ACE-I	0.003	0.006
β-Blocker	20.2	15.6
Calcium antogonist	6.4	2.9
Diuretics	59.9	64.1
Other [£]	13.2	16.7
Current Use (%)§		
ACE-I	4.6	4.4
β-Blocker	21.7	14.4
Calcium antagonist	15.3	5.5
Diuretics	42.8	44.3
Other [£]	14.4	15.9
None	22.6	28.9
Single class ¶	59.0	59.4
Multiple class †	18.3	11.7
Prior Use (%) ‡		
ACE-I	5.2	5.4
β-Blocker	22.6	22.7
Calcium antagonist	12.2	8.0
Diuretics	57.5	61.3
Other [£]	17.7	23.7
Any Use ¥		
ACE-I	6.4	6.3
β-Blocker	31.8	27.4
Calcium antagonist	17.7	9.3
Diuretics	70.3	75.0
Other [£]	22.9	28.7
<u>Other Medications (%)</u> ^a		
Nitrates	23.6	6.0
Digoxin	8.9	5.1
Loop diuretics	14.4	7.2

Table 4.3 Patterns of Drug Use Among Cases And Controls

* Initial drug use refers to the antihypertensive agent at cohort entry

§ Current use refers to the drug availability in the 90 days prior to index date

¶ Single class refers to exposure to a only one class of an antihypertensive drug during the 90-day current time window

† Multiple class refers to exposure to a more than one class of an antihypertensive drug during the 90day current time window

‡ Prior use defined as dispensing on an antihypertensive agent between cohort entry and the 90-day current time window

¥ Any use defined as dispensing on an antihypertensive agent between cohort entry and the index date ^a Drug markers for cardiovascular disease: nitrates (ischemic heart disease), digoxin (heart failure,

arrhythmia), loop diuretics (heart failure) initiated between cohort entry and index date ${}^{\epsilon}$ Other includes peripheral vasodilators, centrally-acting α_{2} -agonists, and α -blockers

4.3 Analysis of Risk

4.3.1 Unadjusted RR for Cardiovascular Disease

4.3.1.1 Current Use Analysis

Table 4.4 presents the results of the unadjusted analysis. Throughout, current use of diuretics was used as the reference group. In this analysis, the risk ratio was adjusted for other antihypertensive medications, but was not adjusted for potential confounders. Current use of calcium antagonists showed a statistically significant increase risk of cardiovascular disease (RR=3.25; 95% CI 2.23-4.71). Although lower in magnitude, users of β -blockers had a 60% increase in risk relative to diuretic users (RR=1.60; CI 1.18-2.18). Current exposure to ACE-I and other antihypertensive medications, including peripheral vasodilators, centrally-acting α_2 -agonists, and alpha-blockers, was not associated with cardiovascular disease.

4.3.1.2 Any Use Analysis

One hypothesis of this study was that use of an antihypertensive drug any time between cohort entry and index may potentially affect cardiovascular risk. As shown in Table 4.4, any use of calcium antagonists increased risk by more than 2-fold (RR=2.30: CI 1.64-3.23). There was also a 19% risk increase with β -blockers and 25% risk reduction with other antihypertensive drugs, however, the confidence intervals for both estimates included the null value (RR=1.19; CI 0.93-1.54 and RR= 0.75; CI 0.57-0.98, respectively).

Table 4.4 Unadjusted Risk Ratios for Cardiovascular Disease Associated with Antihypertensive Drugs

Antihypertensive Drug*	Unadjusted Risk Ratio§	95% CI				
Current Use Analysis:						
Diuretics [‡]						
β-Blockers	1.60	1.18 - 2.18				
ACE-I	0.96	0.53 - 1.76				
Calcium Antagonists	3.25	2.23 - 4.71				
Other [†]	0.96	0.68 - 1.35				
Any Use Analysis:						
Diuretics [‡]						
β-Blockers	1.19	0.93 – 1.54				
ACE-I	0.96	0.56 - 1.63				
Calcium Antagonists	2.30	1.64 - 3.23				
Other [†]	0.75	0.57 - 0.98				

* Current-use time window defined as use within 90 days prior to index date

[§] Case and controls matched on the month and year of cohort entry
 [‡] Current use of diuretics served as the reference group

[†] Other includes peripheral vasodilators, centrally-acting α_2 -agonists, and α blockers

4.3.2 Predictors of Cardiovascular Disease

Each predictor was evaluated individually in the model. Gender and the use of oral hypoglycemic agents only were predictors of outcome (Table 4.5). Age was notably associated with risk of cardiovascular disease, with the risk increasing by 3% for each 1-year increase in age. Moreover, initiation of pharmacologic therapy for the treatment of angina, arrhythmia, and congestive failure between cohort entry and the index date was strongly associated with cardiovascular disease. There was 4.8-fold increase in risk with nitrate use, a 2.2-fold increase with loop diuretics, and a 1.8-fold increase with digoxin.

Variable	e Unadjusted Rate Ratio [§]	
		<u></u>
Gender	1.69	1.34 - 2.14
Age at index date, years	1.03	1.02 - 1.05
Social assistance	1.09	0.72 - 1.64
Duration of diabetes over 5 years	1.09	0.87 - 1.38
Anti-diabetic therapy		
Insulin only	0.72	0.54 - 0.97
Oral hypoglycemic only	1.38	1.09 - 1.75
Both	0.87	0.65 - 1.16
Compliance to antihypertensive		
therapy	1.27	0.95 - 1.68
Cardiovascular Medication Use ¹		
Nitrates	4.78	3.60 - 6.44
Loop diuretics	2.24	1.59 - 3.17
Digoxin	1.81	1.20 - 2.73
Medication use [£]		
Respiratory	1.06	0.68 - 1.63
Lipid-lowering	1.61	0.85 - 3.03
Glucocorticoids	0.87	0.48 - 1.58
Neurotropic	1.07	0.82 - 1.34
Anti-parkinsonian	0.30	0.04 - 2.22
NSAIDs	0.83	0.65 - 1.06
Anticonvulsant	0.92	0.47 - 1.78
Anti-ulcer	1.12	0.79 - 1.59 ·

Table 4.5 Evaluation of Predictors of Cardiovascular Events

 [§] Case and controls matched on the month and year of cohort entry
 [¶] Drug markers for cardiovascular disease: nitrates (ischemic heart disease), digoxin (heart failure, arrhythmia), loop diuretics (heart failure) initiated between cohort entry and index date.

[£] Prior to cohort entry

4.3.3 Distribution of Potential Confounders among Controls According to Current Antihypertensive Drug Exposure

In a case-control study, a preliminary assessment of confounding is made by determining the association between the potential confounder and the exposure variable of interest among controls. The results of this analysis are presented in Table 4.6. If the association between current exposure to an antihypertensive drug and the covariate differs from the association between the reference group and the covariate, then this discrepancy is suggestive of confounding.

As with the reference category, the proportion of controls with a current exposure to an antihypertensive medication was remarkably higher in the older age category, with the exception of other antihypertensive drugs. A higher proportion of controls currently exposed to peripheral vasodilators, centrally-acting α_2 -agonists, and α -blockers were in the younger age category. Among controls that were users of calcium antagonists, a higher percent were older as compared with the reference group (85.6% versus 75.2%). In comparison to the controls currently exposed to diuretics, females were slightly less well-represented among users of β -blockers, ACE-I, and calcium antagonists. A greater proportion of controls on diuretics were receiving social assistance at the time of cohort entry.

Antidiabetic medications were differentially distributed among the reference group and the antihypertensive drug exposure categories. Among users of ACE-I and calcium antagonists, approximately 43% and 38% of

controls, respectively, were prescribed both insulin and oral hypoglycemic agents during the course of their disease, as compared to the reference group, where only 19% of controls were exposed to both agents. Relative to users of diuretics, fewer controls currently exposed to ACE-I and calcium antagonists were users of oral hypoglycemic drugs. Insulin was more likely to be the drug of choice for current users of other antihypertensive medications.

Compliance to antihypertensive therapy was markedly greater among patients on ACE-I or calcium antagonists than those on diuretics. Among controls, drugs for the treatment of high blood pressure were not differentially prescribed to subjects with different duration of diabetes, nor among subjects with different comorbidities.

As expected, a correlation was found between current use of an antihypertensive medication and past use of the same drug. Relative to the reference group, more current users of ACE-I and calcium antagonists were previous users of β -blockers and other antihypertensive drugs. Prior use of ACE-I was higher among controls with current exposure to calcium antagonists than those with current exposure to diuretics. Similarly, previous prescription of calcium antagonists occurred more frequently among controls with current use of ACE-I. As well, prior use of diuretics was notably higher among users of ACE-I.

Initiation of medications used as drug markers for cardiovascular disease was heterogeneous among the reference group and the current users of β -blockers, ACE-I, calcium antagonists, and other antihypertensive

drugs. The proportion of controls on nitrates was remarkably higher in subjects with current exposure to calcium antagonists (32.2%), ACE-I (13.1%), and β -blockers (14.7%), than in subjects on diuretics (4.0%). Initiation of digoxin also occurred more commonly among patients currently using calcium antagonists. Once again, loop diuretics were differentially prescribed among current users of antihypertensive drugs. The highest percent of controls taking loop diuretics was found among current users of ACE-I, while the lowest proportion was found among the reference group.

The following conclusions are derived from the bivariate analysis:

- Current exposure to β-blockers was associated with gender and nitrate use
 - Current exposure to ACE-I was associated with gender, antihyperglycemic medications, compliance to antihypertensive therapy, prior use of antihypertensive medications, including β blockers, calcium antagonists, and other antihypertensive drugs, as well as the initiation of therapy for cardiovascular disease, namely the use of nitrates, digoxin, and loop diuretics.
- Current exposure to calcium antagonists was associated with age, gender, antihyperglycemic medications, compliance to antihypertensive therapy, prior use of antihypertensive medications, including ACE-I, β -blockers, and other antihypertensive drugs, as well as the initiation of therapy for cardiovascular disease, namely the use of nitrates and loop diuretics.

• Current exposure to other antihypertensive drugs was associated with age and antihyperglycemic medications.

Table 4.6 Distribution of Confounding Variables among Controls According to Current Antihypertensive Drug Exposure^{*}

		Diuretics	β-Blockers	ACE-I	Calcium	Others
		(Reference)			Antagonists	
		%	%	%	%	%
Age, a	t index date					
•	< 60 years	24.8	37.0	24.1	14.4	77.7
•	≥ 60 years	75.2	62.9	75.9	85.6	22.3
Age in	years (mean \pm SD) [¶]	67.6	64.0 ±9.9	67.3 ±9.4	69.8 ±9.4	67.1 ±9.3
Gende	er (% male)	45.9	60.4	56.6	58.3	48.2
Social	Assistance [‡]	8.2	7.2	4.8	5.6	6.2
Anti-di	iabetic Therapy [†]					
•	Insulin only	24.5	24.7	24.8	18.9	41.0
•	Oral hypoglycemic	56.2	58.7	33.1	43.3	59.0
•	Both	19.3	16.6	42.7	37.8	22.0
Durati	on of diabetes [§]					
•	Less than 5 years	54.6	61.3	62.8	58.9	55.7
•	5 years or greater	45.4	38.7	37.2	41.1	44.3
Compl antihy	liance to pertensive therapy	33.0	43.8	62.8	54.4	43.0
Medic	ation use [£]					
•	Respiratory	7.9	7.9	7.6	5.6	7.9
•	Lipid-lowering	2.3	3.2	6.9	6.1	2.5
•	Glucocorticoids	4.8	4.0	4.8	5.0	3.3
•	Neurotropic	29.2	26.6	23.5	30.0	21.2
•	Anti-parkinsonian	0.9	0.9	0.0	0.6	.8
•	NSAIDs	41.6	40.0	35.9	46.1	37.8
•	Anticonvulsant	3.2	3.2	2.8	6.7	3.3
•	Anti-ulcer	10.4	12.6	16.2	18.9	9.83

Table 4.6 Distribution of Confounding Variables among Controls According to Current Drug Exposure^{*}

		· · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · ·			
		Diuretics	β-	ACE-I	Calcium	Others
		(Reference)	Blockers		Antagonists	
		%	%		%	%
Prior L	Jse [¥]					•
•	ACE-I	3.2	3.2	80.7	18.9	2.1
•	β-Blocker	13.3	67.5	50.3	37.2	14.6
•	Calcium antagonist	3.5	8.1	31.7	76.1	3.9
•	Diuretics	68.7	39.4	74.5	55.0	40.1
•	Other	14.1	16.7	35.2	27.8	68.6
Cardiovascular medication use ^a						
•	Nitrates	4.0	14.7	13.1	32.2	2.1
•	Digoxin	6.1	2.3	12.4	7.8	3.5
•	Loop diuretics	5.5	6.0	22.1	16.1	5.8

Current-use time window defined as use within 90 days prior to index date

Age at index date

[‡] At cohort entry

† Anti-diabetic therapy evaluated from the first prescription of an antihyperglycemic agent to the index date

[§] Duration of diabetes calculated in years from the first prescription of an antidiabetic agent to index date

[£] Prior to cohort entry

* Prior use defined as dispensing of an antihypertensive agent between cohort entry and the 90-day current time window

^a Drug markers for cardiovascular disease: nitrates (ischemic heart disease), digoxin (heart failure, arrhythmia), loop diuretics (heart failure) initiated between cohort entry and index date
4.3.4 Assessment of Confounding: Current Use Analysis

One of the methods by which confounding may be appreciated is by comparing the crude and adjusted estimates of the association. If a discrepancy exists between the unadjusted risk estimate and the adjusted risk estimate, then the variable of interest is a possible confounder. For the purposes of this analysis, a change in risk estimate by 10% or more was considered to be indicative of confounding. Table 4.7 and Table 4.8 present the crude risk ratio for current calcium antagonist use and current β -blocker use, as well as the risk ratio when the individual potential confounding variables were included in the model.

With regards to current calcium antagonist use, the only variable that changed the risk estimate by more than 10% was nitrate use. Specifically, with the addition of this covariate, the risk ratio decreased from 3.25 (95% CI 2.23-4.71) to 1.91 (95% CI 1.27-2.88). All other variables were not found to change the estimate in risk. As for current use of β -blockers, the risk of cardiovascular disease increased from 1.60 (95% CI 1.19-2.19) to 1.92 (95% CI 1.40-2.62) when age at index date was considered in the model. Also, nitrate use decreased the risk ratio to 1.22 (95% CI 0.88-1.69). Once again, all other potential confounders were not believed to be important as they did not notably modify the risk ratio. Of note, gender did change the risk ratio only decreased by approximately 5%. This degree of change in the risk estimate was not considered to be significant. The analysis did not reveal

any important confounders in the association of current use of ACE-I and current use of other antihypertensive drugs and the risk of cardiovascular disease.

Variable	Risk Ratio [§]	95% CI			
Current calcium antagonists [*] (unadjusted)	3.25	2.23 - 4.71			
Adjusted individually for the following:					
Gender	3.08	2.11 - 4.49			
Age at index date, years	3.22	2.21 - 4.70			
Social assistance	3.26	2.24 - 4.74			
Duration of diabetes over 5 years	3.24	2.23 - 4.71			
Anti-diabetic therapy					
Insulin only	3.19	2.19 - 4.64			
Oral hypoglycemic only	3.36	2.31 - 4.89			
Both	3.36	2.31 - 4.90			
Compliance to antihypertensive therapy	3.27	2.24 - 4.76			
Cardiovascular Medication Use ¹					
Nitrates	1.91	1.27 - 2.88			
Loop diuretics	3.05	2.09 - 4.45			
Digoxin	3.20	2.20 - 4.66			
- Medication use ^c					
Respiratory	3.27	2.21 - 4.35			
Lipid-lowering	3.21	2.19 - 4.88			
Glucocorticoids	3.22	2.30 - 4.98			
Neurotropic	3.20	2.23 - 4.68			
Anti-parkinsonian	3.20	2.18 - 4.46			
NSAIDs	3.23	2.20 - 4.70			
Anticonvulsant	3.29	2.25 - 4.99			
Anti-ulcer	3.24	2.22 - 4.75			

Table 4.7 Potential Confounding Variables on the Association of Current **Calcium Antagonist Use and Cardiovascular Events**

* Current-use time window defined as use within 90 days prior to index date

 [§] Case and controls matched on the month and year of cohort entry
 ¹ Drug markers for cardiovascular disease: nitrates (ischemic heart disease), digoxin (heart failure, arrhythmia), loop diuretics (heart failure) initiated between cohort entry and index date.

[£] Prior to cohort entry

Variable	Risk Ratio [§]	95% CI
Current β -Blocker use (unadjusted)	1.60	1.18 - 2.18
Adjusted individually for the following:		
Gender	1.51	1.11 - 2.05
Age at index date, years	1.92	1.40 - 2.62
Social assistance	1.61	1.18 - 2.18
Duration of diabetes over 5 years	1.61	1.19 - 2.19
Anti-diabetic therapy		
Insulin only	1.60	1.18 - 2.17
Oral hypoglycemic only	1.60	1.17 - 2.16
Both	1.60	1.18 - 2.17
Compliance to antihypertensive therapy	1.62	1.19 - 2.20
Cardiovascular medication Use [®]		
Nitrates	1.22	0.88 - 1.69
Loop diuretics	1.62	1.19 - 2.20
Digoxin	1.66	1.22 - 2.25
Medication use [£]		
Respiratory	1.58	1.17 - 2.15
Lipid-lowering	1.57	1.12 - 2.20
Glucocorticoids	1.62	1.19 - 2.16
Neurotropic	1.60	1.17 - 2.24
Anti-parkinsonian	1.62	1.20 - 2.20
NSAIDs	1.56	1.19 - 2.22
Anticonvulsant	1.63	1.12 - 2.25
Anti-ulcer	1.60	1.20 - 2.19

Table 4.8 Potential Confounding Variables on the Association of Current β-Blocker Use and Cardiovascular Events

 Current-use time window defined as use within 90 days prior to index date
 [§] Case and controls matched on the month and year of cohort entry
 ¹ Drug markers for cardiovascular disease: nitrates (ischemic heart disease), digoxin (heart failure, arrhythmia), loop diuretics (heart failure) initiated between cohort entry and index date.

[£] Prior to cohort entry

4.3.5 Assessment of Confounding: Any Use Analysis

The confounders in the association between the risk of cardiovascular disease and any use of antihypertensive drugs (table 4.9 and Table 4.10) were found to be similar to those covariates identified in the previous section. After adjusting for nitrate therapy, the risk ratio for current use of calcium antagonists decreased remarkably from 2.30 (95% CI 0.92-1.94) to 1.34 (95% CI 0.92-1.94). None of the other variables were found to confound the association between calcium antagonist use and cardiovascular disease.

In the model assessing any use of β -blockers and risk of cardiovascular disease, there were marked alterations in the risk ratio only when age and nitrate therapy were considered. The risk ratio increased from 1.19 (95% CI 0.93-1.54) to 1.35 (95% CI 1.04-1.74) when adjusted for age at index date. Likewise, when nitrate therapy was considered in the model, the risk ratio decreased to 0.96 (95% CI 0.74-1.25). However, as with the unadjusted risk ratio, the confidence interval for the estimate included the null value. Regarding the association between cardiovascular outcomes and any use of ACE-I and other antihypertensive agents, no significant confounders were identified.

Variable	Risk Ratio [§]	95% CI
Any calcium antagonists	2.30	1.64 - 3.23
Adjusted individually for the following:		
Gender	2.19	1.56 - 3.08
Age at index date, years	2.26	1.60 - 3.17
Social assistance	2.31	1.65 - 3.24
Duration of diabetes over 5 years	2.30	1.64 - 3.22
Anti-diabetic therapy		
Insulin only	2.28	1.62 - 3.20
Oral hypoglycemic only	2.40	1.71 - 3.37
Both	2.37	1.69 - 3.34
Compliance to antihypertensive therapy	2.25	1.60 - 3.16
Cardiovascular medication Use ¹		
Nitrates	1.34	0.92 - 1.94
Loop diuretics	2.17	1.54 - 3.05
Digoxin	2.27	1.62 - 3.19
Medication use [£]		
Respiratory	2.30	1.64 - 3.23
Lipid-lowering	2.27	1.62 - 3.19
Glucocorticoids	2.30	1.64 - 3.22
Neurotropic	2.30	1.64 - 3.23
Anti-parkinsonian	2.29	1.63 - 3.21
NSAIDs	2.32	1.65 - 3.25
Anticonvulsant	2.31	1.64 - 3.24
Anti-ulcer	2.29	1.63 - 3.22

Table 4.9 Potential Confounding Variables on the Association of Any **Calcium Antagonist Use and Cardiovascular Events**

Any-use time window defined as use between cohort entry and index date Case and controls matched on the month and year of cohort entry

¹ Drug markers for cardiovascular disease: nitrates (ischemic heart disease), digoxin (heart failure, arrhythmia), loop diuretics (heart failure) initiated between cohort entry and index date.

[£] Prior to cohort entry

Variable	Risk Ratio [§]	95% CI
Any β-Blocker use (unadjusted)	1.19	0.93 - 1.54
Adjusted individually for the following:		
Gender	1.14	0.88 - 1.46
Age at index date, years	1.35	1.04 - 1.74
Social assistance	1.20	0.93 - 1.54
Duration of diabetes over 5 years	1.19	0.93 - 1.54
Anti-diabetic therapy		
Insulin only	1.19	0.93 - 1.53
Oral hypoglycemic only	1.19	0.93 - 1.53
Both	1.19	0.93 - 1.54
Compliance to antihypertensive therapy	1.17	0.91 - 1.51
Cardiovascular medication use [®]		
Nitrates	0.96	0.74 - 1.25
Loop diuretics	1.21	0.94 - 1.55
Digoxin	1.21	0.94 - 1.56
Medication use [£]		
Respiratory	1.19	0.93 - 1.54
Lipid-lowering	1.19	0.93 - 1.53
Glucocorticoids	1.19	0.93 - 1.53
Neurotropic	1.19	0.93 - 1.54
Anti-parkinsonian	1.19	0.93 - 1.53
NSAIDs	1.19	0.93 - 1.53
Anticonvulsant	1.19	0.93 - 1.53
Anti-ulcer	1.19	0.93 - 1.54

Table 4.10 Potential Confounding Variables on the Association of Any β-Blocker Use and Cardiovascular Events

 Any-use time window defined as use between cohort entry and index date
 [§] Case and controls matched on the month and year of cohort entry
 [¶] Drug markers for cardiovascular disease: nitrates (ischemic heart disease), digoxin (heart failure, arrhythmia), loop diuretics (heart failure) initiated between cohort entry and index date.

[£] Prior to cohort entry

4.3.6 Assessment of Effect Modification

It was hypothesized that certain variables could modify the effect of current antihypertensive drug use on cardiovascular risk. The effect modifiers considered were prior antihypertensive drug use and initiation of therapy for treatment of angina (nitrate), congestive heart failure (loop diuretics, digoxin), and arrhythmia (digoxin). As well, the risk of an outcome associated with the current use of one class of medication may be altered by the concurrent use of another class of high blood pressure medication. No modification was found in relation to prior use of antihypertensive drugs or with the use of cardiovascular medication. However, the interaction term created between current use of ACE-I and other antihypertensive drugs was significant (p-value=0.0003). Therefore, the risk associated with the current use of ACE-I was modified, depending on whether or not a subject was concurrently receiving a drug in the *other* category. Similarly, the risk associated with current use of other antihypertensive medications was altered if a subject was also prescribed an ACE-I.

4.3.7 Multivariate Analysis

The current exposure categories of antihypertensive drugs, potential confounders, predictors of cardiovascular disease, and clinically relevant variables were considered in the final model.

4.3.7.1 Final Model: Current Use Analysis

The results of multivariate analysis are detailed in Table 4.11. The risk ratios for each category of current antihypertensive drug exposure, with adjustment for effect modification for ACE-I are included in the table. The current use of β -blockers was not found to be associated with the risk of cardiovascular disease (RR=1.35; 95% CI 0.96-1.90). However, current calcium antagonist use increased risk by 90% (RR=1.90; 95% CI 1.25-2.91) relative to diuretic use. Similarly, current users of ACE-I that were also current users of other antihypertensive drugs had a 7.8-fold increase in the risk of disease (RR=7.86; 95% CI 2.25-27.43). The risk ratio for current use of ACE-I without this other class of drugs may be suggestive of a protective effect, however, the confidence interval of the risk estimate includes the null value (RR=0.61; 95% 0.29-1.28).

Gender and age at index date continued to be predictors of cardiovascular disease to a similar magnitude in the adjusted analysis. Initiation of digoxin therapy was no longer a predictor of outcome. This finding contrasted the effects of nitrates and loop diuretics, which continued to be important predictors of cardiovascular disease in the adjusted analysis.

4.3.7.2 Multivariate Analysis: Any Use Analysis

Table 4.12 presents the result of risk ratios for any use of antihypertensive drugs and risk of cardiovascular disease adjusted for gender, social assistance at cohort entry, age at index date, compliance to antihypertensive therapy, duration of diabetes, antidiabetic therapy, drug use for the treatment of angina (nitrates), congestive heart failure (loop diuretics, digoxin), arrhythmia (digoxin), as well as medication use for the treatment of dyslipidemia, seizure disorder, respiratory illness, Parkinson's disease, ulcers, arthritides, mental disease, and use of NSAIDs.

None of the exposure categories were shown to be significant. All of the confidence intervals for each risk estimate included the null value.

Antihypertensive Drug	Adjusted Risk Ratio§	95% CI
Current use of:		
Diuretics [‡]	and the second	
β-Blockers	1.35	0.96 - 1.90
Calcium Antagonists	1.90	1.25 - 2.91
ACE-I		
With other antihypertensives	7.86	2.25 - 27.4
Without other antihypertensives	0.61	0.29 - 1.28
Gender	1.53	1.19 - 1.96
Age at index date, years	1.03	1.02 - 1.05
Social assistance	1.14	0.74 - 1.76
Duration of diabetes over 5 years	1.10	0.86 - 1.41
Anti-diabetic therapy *		
Insulin only	0.77	0.57 - 1.06
Both	0.62	0.44 - 0.86
Compliance to antihypertensive therapy	0.96	0.67 - 1.37
Cardiovascular Medication Use ¹		
Nitrates	3.57	2.53 - 5.05
Loop diuretics	1.85	1.26 - 2.72
Digoxin	1.08	0.68 - 1.72
Medication use [£]		
Respiratory	0.88	0.56 - 1.37
Lipid-lowering	1.71	0.86 - 3.64
Glucocorticoids	0.92	0.49 - 1.70
Neurotropic	1.02	0.77 - 1.35
Anti-parkinsonian	0.27	0.04 - 2.03
NSAIDs	0.77	0.59 - 0.99
Anticonvulsant	1.08	0.54 - 2.16
Anti-ulcer	1.01	0.69 - 1.47

Table 4.11 Multivariate Analysis: Final Model for the Current Use of Antihypertensive Drugs and Risk of Cardiovascular Events

* Current-use time window defined as use within 90 days prior to index date

[§] Adjusted for gender, social assistance at cohort entry, age (years) at index date, compliance to antihypertensive therapy, duration of diabetes, antidiabetic therapy, drug use for the treatment of angina (nitrates), congestive heart failure (loop diuretics, digoxin), arrhythmia (digoxin), as well as medication use for the treatment of dyslipidemia, seizure disorder, respiratory illness, Parkinson's disease, ulcers, arthritides, mental disease, and use of NSAIDs. Final model includes interaction term for current use of ACE-I and other antihypertensive drugs

[‡] Current use of diuretics served as the reference group

[†] Other includes peripheral vasodilators, centrally-acting α_2 -agonists, and α -blockers [¶] Drug markers for cardiovascular disease: nitrates (ischemic heart disease), digoxin (heart failure, arrhythmia), loop diuretics (heart failure) initiated between cohort entry and index date.

[£] Prior to cohort entry

* Comparison group was use of oral hypoglycemic agents only

Table 4.12 Multivariate Analysis: Any Use Analysis

Antihypertensive Drug*	Adjusted Risk Ratio [§]	95% CI	
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			
Diuretics [‡]			
β-Blockers	1.01	0.77 - 1.33	
ACE-I	0.79	0.44 - 1.41	
Calcium Antagonists	1.27	0.56 - 1.86	
Other [†]	0.74	0.55 - 0.98	

* Any-use time window defined as use between cohort entry and index date

[§] Adjusted for gender, social assistance at cohort entry, age (years) at index date, compliance to antihypertensive therapy, duration of diabetes, antidiabetic therapy, drug use for the treatment of angina (nitrates), congestive heart failure (loop diuretics, digoxin), arrhythmia (digoxin), as well as medication use for the treatment of dyslipidemia, seizure disorder, respiratory illness, Parkinson's disease, ulcers, arthritides, mental disease, and use of NSAIDs

[‡] Any of diuretics served as the reference group

[†] Other includes peripheral vasodilators, centrally-acting α_2 -agonists, and α -blockers

4.3.8 Assessment of Risk for Individual Cardiovascular Outcomes with Antihypertensive Therapy

4.3.8.1 Current Use Analysis

In addition to evaluating the risk of overall cardiovascular disease with various classes of antihypertensive therapy, risk assessment for individual cardiovascular outcomes was determined. The actual number of cases per classification are presented in Table 4.1. Table 4.13 presents these results for the current use analysis. With regards to the outcome *angina*, estimates could not be obtained for current use of ACE-I because of insufficient numbers.

All ischemic heart disease was assessed by combining cases of myocardial infarction, angina, and other ischemic heart disease. The multivariate analysis revealed that risk of this outcome was increased by 69% with current use of β -blockers (RR=1.69; 95% CI 1.11-2.59)and by 2.8-fold with current use of calcium antagonists (RR=2.82; 95% CI 1.68-4.74).

In terms of myocardial infarction and angina, the unadjusted risk ratios for current use of β -blockers and calcium antagonists showed an increased risk for outcome, however, these risk ratios were no longer significant when adjusted for potential confounders. Multivariate analysis showed that only current users of calcium antagonists were at a greater risk for other ischemic heart disease (RR=5.58; 95% CI 2.41-12.90). With regards to heart failure and stroke, no current exposure category were found to be associated with an

increased risk.

4.3.8.2 Any Use Analysis

Table 4.14 details the results of the risk assessment for individual cardiovascular outcomes with *any* antihypertensive exposure categories. Once again, the risk of angina associated with any use of ACE-I could not be obtained because of insufficient numbers. For all ischemic heart disease, there was 1.7-fold increase with β -blockers (RR=1.69; 95% CI 1.11-2.59) and a 2.8-fold increase with calcium antagonists (RR=2.82; 95% CI 1.68-4.74). With regards to angina, only the crude risk ratios were significant for any use of β -blockers and calcium antagonists. Any calcium antagonist use also increased the risk of ischemic heart disease by 2.5-fold (RR=2.5; 95% CI 1.20-5.20). In contrast, no significant results were found for the analysis of risk of myocardial infarction, heart failure, and stroke.

Table 4.13 Risk of Individual Cardiovascular Disease Outcomes with Antihypertensive Medications: Current-Use Analysis *

	ACE-I	β-Blockers	ССВ	Others [†]
All ischemic heart disease [¶]				
Unadjusted RR	0.76 (0.32-1.84)	2.22 (1.53-3.22)	5.15 (3.27-8.11)	0.77 (0.47-1.25)
Adjusted RR §	0.76 (0.29-1.98)	1.69 (1.11-2.59)	2.82 (1.68-4.74)	0.81 (0.49-1.34)
Nvocardial inferction				
Inadiusted PR	1 03 (0 36 2 06)	1 81 (1 00 3 27)	2 84 (1 32 6 12)	0.06 (0.54.1.71)
	1.00 (0.30-2.30)	1.01 (1.00-0.27)	1 50 (0 60 2 75)	0.50 (0.34-1.71)
	1.00 (0.32-3.10)	1.42 (0.73-2.79)	1.50 (0.60-5.75)	0.09 (0.32-1.50)
Angina				
Unadjusted RR		3.45 (1.55-7.71)	5.62 (1.88-16.8)	1.32 (0.51-3.42)
Adjusted RR §		2.20 (0.79-6.09)	1.83 (0.47-7.07)	0.87 (0.29-2.59)
<u>Other</u>				
Unadjusted RR	0.65 (0.12-3.55)	2.15 (1.17-3.97)	9.25 (4.45-19.2)	0.66 (0.26-1.65)
Adjusted RR §	1.04 (0.16-6.90)	1.84 (0.88-3.87)	5.58 (2.41-12.9)	0.92 (0.34-2.47)
Congestive heart failure				
Unadjusted RR	1.62 (0.53-4.98)	0.85 (0.38-1.94)	1.84 (0.71-4.75)	0.89 (0.39-2.02)
Adjusted RR §	1.32 (0.34-5.11)	1.07 (0.38-3.00)	0.89 (0.27-2.94)	0.62 (0.23-1.72)
<u>Stroke</u>				
Unadjusted RR	1.6 (0.53-4.98)	0.85 (0.38-1.94)	1.84 (0.71-4.75)	0.89 (0.39-2.02)
Adjusted RR §	1.03 (0.24-4.48)	0.80 (0.32-2.00)	0.48 (0.12-1.89)	1.80 (0.89-3.65)

^{*}Current-use time window defined as use within 90 days prior to index date. For all currentuse analysis, the reference group was current use of diuretics

[§] Adjusted for gender, social assistance at cohort entry, age (years) at index date, compliance to antihypertensive therapy, duration of diabetes, antidiabetic therapy, drug use for the treatment of angina (nitrates), congestive heart failure (loop diuretics, digoxin), arrhythmia (digoxin), as well as medication use for the treatment of dyslipidemia, seizure disorder, respiratory illness, Parkinson's disease, ulcers, arthritides, mental disease, and use of NSAIDs

[†] Other includes peripheral vasodilators, centrally-acting α_2 -agonists, and α -blockers [¶] Includes myocardial infarction, angina, and other ischemic heart disease

Abbreviations: RR=Risk Ratio, CCB=Calcium Antagonists

Table 4.14 Risk of Individual Cardiovascular Disease Outcomes with Antihypertensive Medications: Any-Use Analysis^{*}

	ACE-I	β-Blockers	ССВ	Others [†]
All ischemic heart disease ¹				
Unadjusted RR	0.67 (0.30-1.49)	1.62 (1.19-2.21)	3.32 (2.21-4.99)	0.65 (0.45-0.94)
Adjusted RR §	0.57 (0.24-1.35)	1.24 (0.88-1.75)	1.70 (1.06-2.73)	0.64 (0.44-0.94)
Myocardial infarction				
Unadjusted RR	1.12 (0.44-2.86)	1.33 (0.83-2.13)	1.94 (0.96-3.87)	0.68 (0.41-1.14)
Adjusted RR §	0.91 (0.32-2.54)	1.15 (0.68-1.94)	0.93 (0.39-2.20)	0.71 (0.41-1.22)
Angina				
Unadjusted RR		1.07 (1.07-4.00)	4.28 (1.73-10.6)	0.88 (0.39-1.93)
Adjusted RR §	_	1.12 (0.49-2.58)	1.83 (0.59-5.72)	0.69 (2.29-1.65)
<u>Other</u>				
Unadjusted RR	0.46 (0.09-2.37)	1.82 (1.09-3.06)	4.84 (2.53-9.27)	0.55 (0.27-1.10)
Adjusted RR §	0.45 (0.07-2.86)	1.35 (0.73-2.51)	2.50 (1.20-5.20)	0.55 (0.27-1.15)
Congestive heart failure				
Unadjusted RR	1.94 (0.75-4.98)	0.66 (0.34-1.26)	1.33 (0.58-3.04)	0.81 (0.43-1.52)
Adjusted RR §	1.63 (0.56-4.74)	0.76 (0.35-1.65)	0.80 (0.29-2.21)	0.63 (0.30-1.33)
Stroke				
Unadjusted RR	0.87 (0.26-2.90)	0.63 (0.33-1.19)	0.64 (0.22-1.94)	1.10 (0.62-1.95)
Adjusted RR §	0.97 (0.27-3.49)	0.66 (0.33-1.31)	0.43 (0.13-1.47)	1.11 (0.60-2.06)

^{*}Any-use time window defined as use between cohort entry and index date. For all any-use analysis, the reference group was any use of diuretics

⁵ Adjusted for gender, social assistance at cohort entry, age (years) at index date, compliance to antihypertensive therapy, duration of diabetes, antidiabetic therapy, drug use for the treatment of angina (nitrates), congestive heart failure (loop diuretics, digoxin), arrhythmia (digoxin), as well as medication use for the treatment of dyslipidemia, seizure disorder, respiratory illness, Parkinson's disease, ulcers, arthritides, mental disease, and use of NSAIDs

[†] Other includes peripheral vasodilators, centrally-acting α₂-agonists, and α-blockers [¶] Includes myocardial infarction, angina, and other ischemic heart disease <u>Abbreviations</u>: RR=Risk Ratio, CCB=Calcium Antagonists

4.4 Summary of Study Results

A population-based nested case-control study was conducted to determine the association between the use of antihypertensive drug use and the risk of cardiovascular disease. The main study findings are as follows:

- Current calcium antagonist use was associated with a 90% increase in overall risk of cardiovascular disease relative to diuretic use. In contrast, use of these agents at any time during followup was not associated with an increased risk of cardiovascular disease.
- 2. The risk of cardiovascular disease for ACE-I relative to diuretics was found to vary across subgroups of patients. For patients not currently exposed to other antihypertensive drugs, including peripheral vasodilators, centrally-acting α_2 -agonists, and α -blockers, there was no increased risk of cardiovascular disease. On the other hand, if current users of ACE-I were concurrently exposed to other antihypertensive drugs, the risk of outcome was increased by 7.8-fold.
- Current use of β-blockers was not associated with an increased risk of cardiovascular disease.
- 4. Current use of calcium antagonists relative to diuretics was also associated with a 5.6-fold increase in the risk of other ischemic heart

disease. However, use of calcium antagonists at anytime during followup increased the risk of this outcome by 2.5-fold.

- 5. For all ischemic heart disease, current use of β-blockers relative to diuretics was associated with a 69% increase in risk, whereas current use of calcium antagonists relative to diuretics was associated with a 2.8-fold increase in risk. There was a 1.7-fold increase in the risk of all ischemic heart disease with the use of calcium antagonists at anytime during followup.
- Independent predictors of cardiovascular disease in this study include age, gender, and the initiation of pharmacologic treatment for angina (nitrates) and heart failure (loop diuretics).

Chapter Five - DISCUSSION

The interpretation of the study findings, as well as a review of the methodological issues in this research are reviewed in the following chapter. A population-based nested case-control study was conducted in diabetic subjects with newly-diagnosed, uncomplicated hypertension in order to determine the association between the use of antihypertensive therapy and the occurrence of cardiovascular disease.

5.1 Risk of Cardiovascular Disease and the Use of Antihypertensive Therapy

The overall risk of cardiovascular disease was found to be higher among current users of calcium antagonists compared to current users of diuretics in this study. Although the magnitude of the risk estimates vary, the results of this research are in agreement with findings from several observational studies. However, a few studies did not show elevated risks of disease with calcium antagonists. The discrepancies among the studies may be related to differences in baseline characteristics of the participants. Pahor et al. (79;82;84) found that in a population of hypertensive subjects, the relative risk of mortality was 3.27 for use of the short-acting calcium antagonist, nifedipine, versus β -blocker use in a subset of diabetic patients. Yet, among the nondiabetic subpopulation, the relative risk of mortality was 1.36. Similarly, Alderman et al. (49;83) showed that the risk of

cardiovascular events was increased by almost 7-fold among diabetic patients using calcium antagonists compared to all other classes of antihypertensive medications. In another observational study, Heckbert et al.(85) showed that ACE-I relative to calcium antagonists were protective against fatal and nonfatal myocardial infarctions. Lastly, an 80% increase in the risk of all-cause mortality was found among calcium antagonist users relative to ACE-I users in another retrospective cohort study (86). Only one observational study (88), revealed that the use of calcium antagonists was not associated with an excess risk of cardiovascular events. However, these findings were based on a cohort of only 164 subjects.

The characteristics of the participants in the observational studies conducted in diabetic patients differ from our study subjects in several important aspects. Firstly, all of the previous studies used cohorts of prevalent cases of hypertension. Duration of hypertension and past exposure to antihypertensive medications were not accounted for in the analysis in previous studies. When considering current use of a drug as the exposure of interest, it is essential to consider past use of the same agent, as it may alter the magnitude of the risk estimate (123). Also, duration of hypertension may have biased the results in previous studies since it is a possible confounder. Duration of hypertension is directly related to overall risk of cardiovascular complications, as well, the prescribing practices of physicians may vary over time.

In the other studies, confounding by indication may have partially

explained the results since subjects with a previous history of cardiovascular disease were not excluded. Confounding occurs when the indication for the antihypertensive therapy, that is, previous history of cardiovascular disease, is associated with future risk of another cardiovascular outcome. It is also associated with the exposure, since physicians tend to prescribe antihypertensive therapy that has been shown to be effective in coronary heart disease. The discrepancy of results in previous observational studies, may also be explained by inconsistent outcome definition, ranging from all-cause mortality to the more specific outcome of myocardial infarction.

Exposure definition for cases and controls was also heterogeneous in prior research and in some studies, measurement of exposure was ambiguous. Current exposure was defined as the use of the agent within 2 weeks of the outcome or up to 6 months prior to the index date. In the study by Lindberg (86), exposure was defined as the drug prescribed at cohort entry and it is not evident if use just prior to the event was accounted for in the analysis. In one other study (79;82), exposure was defined as the use of the use of the use of the calcium antagonist, nifedipine, at any time during followup.

In our study, the main exposure of interest was the current exposure to an antihypertensive agent. Use of a drug at the time or around the time of an event is essential if the risk of an acute outcome to an antihypertensive drug is being studied. As with previous studies, we also attempted to determine if use of an agent at anytime during followup increased risk of disease. For current users of calcium antagonists, the risk of cardiovascular disease was

increased by 1.9-fold (RR=1.90; 95% CI 1.25-2.91), whereas, use of these same medications at anytime between cohort entry and the index date did not increase the risk of outcome (RR=1.27; 95% CI 0.56 1.86). This latter finding probably underestimates the true measure of risk in this study. Exposure measurement as any use is not sufficiently precise in the analysis of risk. For example, a subject in our database may have had dispensations of two prescriptions for a calcium antagonist 3 years prior to the event. However, it is almost impossible to believe that an agent taken a few years prior to the index date is actually responsible for the event. On the other hand, the risk of cardiovascular disease may be overestimated for current users of calcium antagonists. Current use was defined as exposure to an antihypertensive medication within 90 days of the index date. This group includes subjects that were recently initiated on the medication (less than or equal to 90 days), as well as subjects that were taking the medication for a longer period of time (greater than 90 days). It is possible that individuals recently given calcium antagonists were patients with more severe hypertension or perhaps patients manifesting early symptoms of ischemic heart disease. Therefore, it is possible to assume that the true estimate of risk in this study lies between 1.3 and 1.9.

Prior use of antihypertensive drugs was considered to be an important modifier of current use. However, due to negative findings in the multivariate analysis, this variable was excluded in the final model. Significant findings were probably not obtained because of an insufficient sample of patients.

The increased risk of cardiovascular disease with current use of calcium antagonists is biologically plausible. According to one explanation, diabetes results in changes in the composition of cellular membranes, and consequently, these alterations increase the affinity of lipophilic drugs such as calcium antagonists (40;84). However, others in this field have criticized this hypothesis on an experimental basis (124-126). In addition, calcium antagonists cause excessive sympathetic stimulation, and, thereby, may increase risk of myocardial infarction and mortality (78;79).

Contrary to many of the randomized trials (55;81;94;97;101) and two observational studies (85;86), protective effects of current ACE-I use was not demonstrated in our study. The cohort members were accrued between 1980 and 1986, during which time ACE-I were the newest agent on the market. Also, even though followup continued until December 31, 1996, only 25% of the subjects had index dates after January 1, 1987. The results are also difficult to interpret because there were only 15 cases and 144 controls that were current users of ACE-I, and consequently, the absolute numbers are too small to draw a conclusion. Current use of other antihypertensive drugs, including peripheral vasodilators, centrally-acting α_2 -agonists, and α_2 blockers, was identified as an effect modifier of current use of ACE-I. In total, 14 subjects were found to be concurrently exposed to both of these classes of medications. The small number of patients precludes a final conclusion on this interaction. However, for all subjects, the ACE-I was added after the initiation of prazosin, methyldopa, clonidine, or hydralazine. Therefore, we

believe this group of individuals had more severe hypertension or more difficult to control disease and subsequently, were channeled into receiving this newer, second-line agent.

The crude estimates also showed an increased risk with the current use of β -blockers. However, this association was eliminated once adjustments were made for the various confounding variables, including demographic characteristics, antihyperglycemic therapy, compliance to antihypertensive therapy, duration of diabetes, comorbidities, and the initiation of other cardiovascular medications. This finding is consistent with the results of the randomized control trial, the United Kingdom Prospective Diabetes Study (UKPDS) (65), in which β -blockers were found to be equivalent to ACE-I.

A significant increase in risk with current use of calcium antagonists was only found for overall ischemic heart disease and other ischemic heart disease in the analysis of risk for individual cardiovascular outcomes. There was no association between calcium antagonist use and the risk of myocardial infarction, angina, congestive heart failure, and stroke. However, the number of subjects in each group was small and this may explain the negative findings.

Although the randomized clinical trial is the preferred method of evaluating the benefits and adverse effects of drug therapies, observational studies can also provide useful information. Controlled trials are usually conducted under special circumstances with strict protocol and a select group

of subjects. Entry criteria frequently exclude patients less likely to comply. Also, close monitoring during followup ensures that the subjects take the medications properly. Because of financial restraints, randomized clinical trials are at times limited by small sample size and short duration of followup. Despite the benefits of certain drugs in trials, the same medications sometimes prove to be ineffective after they are marketed in a population. Finally, the results of a clinical trial should be interpreted with caution if based on post hoc analysis (127). Of all the trials assessing risk of cardiovascular disease in association with antihypertensive agents in diabetic subjects, only three were not based on subgroup analysis, including FACET (81), ABCD (55), and UKPDS (93). On the other hand, observational studies provide information on subjects in a real life clinical setting. In our study, subjects were followed for a prolonged period of time, the longest duration of followup being over 15 years. Moreover, it was possible to study the effects of all the classes of antihypertensive medications simultaneously.

5.2 Methodologic Considerations

Several important methodologic issues were elucidated in this study. The strengths and weaknesses of our research will be reviewed in the following section.

5.2.1 Selection Bias

One major limitation regarding previous observational studies evaluating the risk of cardiovascular disease and antihypertensive medication is that prevalent cohorts of hypertensive subjects were used. The prevalence of disease is related to the incidence, as well as the duration of disease. Consequently, prevalent patients may be characterized by some known or unknown prognostic factor that will bear on their risk of disease. When using prevalent cases of hypertension, results may be biased because subjects who experienced the outcome prior to cohort entry will not be included in the analysis. Consequently, with the inclusion of only the remaining "survivors" in the analysis, the true risk estimate may be biased toward the null. Therefore, new users may appear to be at higher risk than chronic users of medications. In our study, cohort members were diabetic subjects with newly diagnosed hypertension. Saskatchewan Outpatient Prescription Drug files were reviewed up to 24 months prior to cohort entry to ensure that prevalent cases were excluded from the source cohort. Only new users of antihypertensive drugs were included and the entire history of the drug profile was documented and adjusted for in the analysis. However, as discussed, prior

use was eliminated from the final model because it was not found to be a modifier of current antihypertensive drug use.

Another potential selection bias that affects pharmacoepidemiology is protopathic bias (128). This bias occurs if a medication is begun after the onset of clinical manifestations of the disease. For example, a calcium antagonist may be initiated in a subject after the onset of chest pain, which may be his first symptom of ischemic heart disease. If the subject later develops a myocardial infarction, an inaccurate positive association between the drug and the outcome would occur. A strength of our study is that all patients with markers for cardiovascular disease in the 24 months prior to cohort entry were excluded. However, in spite of this rigorous exclusion criteria, selection bias may still not have been completely eliminated since identification of subjects with silent ischemia was impossible in our database. Moreover, as mentioned in the previous section, it is possible that some subjects in our database experienced symptoms of ischemic heart disease (for example, chest pain) just prior to the initiation of a calcium antagonist. Unfortunately, identification of these individuals was impossible with the information available. New-onset angina during followup of the cohort was probably occurring since we found an association between nitrate use and cardiovascular disease. In fact, the risk of cardiovascular disease with calcium antagonist use decreased significantly once nitrate use was accounted for in the analysis. However, we do not believe that protopathic bias explains all of the effect seen in this study since, despite adjusting for

nitrate use in the final analysis, the positive association between calcium antagonists and risk of cardiovascular disease remained.

5.2.2 Information Bias

Errors in risk estimates may occur in epidemiologic research if misclassification of the exposure and outcome occur. In a case-control study, when classification of the exposure varies according to disease status, then differential information bias is present. In contrast, non-differential information bias is induced if errors in the measurement of exposure do not vary among case and controls (129). Pharmacoepidemiology is especially sensitive to non-differential information bias, since drug exposure is related to many factors that are difficult to measure and this limitation is equally distributed among cases and controls (128).

Misclassification bias was minimized in this study by using data from the Saskatchewan Health Branch. With each paid claim submitted to the Outpatient Prescription Drug Services database, information of the claimant is verified. A sample of paid claims is also sent directly to the beneficiary to ensure that the information is correct (119;120). In addition, validation of the accuracy of the Hospital Services Branch Database has been undertaken. Illogical entries are automatically recognized by the computer programs (120). In addition, excellent agreement has been observed in several validation studies between medical charts and the information in the Hospital Services Branch Database (118;122;130;131). Overall, the Saskatchewan

Health databases have shown to be accurate and comprehensive (119;120;122). Finally, misclassification was minimized by avoiding nondifferential recall of drug exposure. Exposure was measured equally for cases and controls.

One major limitation of using administrative databases is that drug dispensation does not automatically imply drug consumption. Current exposure in this study was defined as dispensation of at least one prescription of an antihypertensive agent within 90 days of the index date. In addition, no information is available on the duration of use or the quantity of medication dispensed. It was assumed that each prescription lasted for 30 days. Therefore, misclassification of exposure may have occurred if patients were not actually taking the medication. Also, some subjects may have been exposed continuously for the entire period, whereas other individuals may have been exposed only for a very short time. If risk estimates are believed to have a temporal association over the current-use time window, then the risk estimates could be distorted. Moreover, miscalculation of compliance may have occurred because of this lack of precise information on the number of days supplied with each prescription. Assuming a 30-day supply of medications with each prescription, subjects dispensed 9 or more prescriptions per year were considered compliant. However, the potential for error is evident if duration of each prescription was for a longer duration than the assumed 30-day time period. In this study, there is no reason to believe measurement of exposure was dependent on the case status of a subject.

However, nondifferential misclassification may have provided a conservative estimate of the risk.

Errors in measurement of outcome may have occurred, but as already outlined, information in this administrative database has proven to be accurate. With respect to myocardial infarction, 97% concordance was found between diagnoses in medical charts and data in the hospital computer files (118). The concordance varied between 79% and 94% for angina and other ischemic heart disease. The validity of heart failure and stroke has not been evaluated. However, all of the cardiovascular diseases used in the definition of the outcome are well-defined and well-recognized entities by physicians and therefore, we believe misclassification of the outcome is minimal. There has been much debate over the last few years on the use of calcium antagonist and myocardial infarction, and consequently, cases of cardiovascular disease may have been inappropriately diagnosed among users of calcium antagonists. However, ascertainment of disease was probably not systematically different among subjects exposed to different classes of antihypertensive agents since most of the study period occurred before the controversy.

Errors in the measurement of the confounding variables is another potential limitation of this research. Misclassification of some study subjects could have occurred because coexisting comorbidities prior to cohort entry and cardiovascular disease developing during followup were identified using drug markers only.

5.2.3 Confounding

Confounding by indication is probably the most important bias influencing pharmacoepidemiologic research (128;132). This bias occurs when a medication is selectively prescribed to an individual when thought to be indicated by the physician. Calcium antagonists are indicated not only for the treatment of hypertension, but also for ischemic heart disease. Therefore, if subclinical angina is suspected in a patient with high blood pressure, a physician will specifically prescribe a calcium channel blocker for this individual who is already at high risk of progressing to an acute myocardial infarction. In this hypothetical situation, calcium antagonists are given to a patient at high risk for an event, and consequently, the risk estimate associated with this class of medication will reflect the use of these drugs in response to subclinical disease.

Information on patient characteristics that may lead to confounding by indication such as, disease severity and presence of coexisting medical conditions, is not available in the administrative database of Saskatchewan. Also, there is a lack of information on other risk factors for cardiovascular disease, such as blood pressure values, glucose and cholesterol levels, and smoking. However, Psaty et al. (78) found there was no association between antihypertensive drug use and smoking.

In our study, considerable efforts were undertaken to minimize confounding by indication. First, strict inclusion criteria created a homogenous cohort of subjects with uncomplicated hypertension. Subjects

were not eligible for recruitment if coexisting cardiovascular disease was suspected based on their prescription profile and hospitalization data in the 2 years preceding cohort entry. Use of medications for several chronic pathologies was also adjusted for in the analysis. Furthermore, patients were stratified for the presence of cardiovascular pharmacologic treatment during the course of antihypertensive therapy. Adjustments for the use of nitrates, digoxin, and loop diuretics did attenuate the magnitude of the risk difference, thereby, implying that confounding by indication may have played a role in our findings.

Duration of hypertension was also accounted for in the design and cannot explain the results of this study. Each case was matched to ten randomly selected controls that initiated antihypertensive treatment in the same calender month and year as the case and were still at risk for an event at the time of matching. Furthermore, temporal factors that influence prescribing practices and hospitalizations for cardiovascular disease are inherently controlled for by this matching. Many unmeasured confounders are correlated with age and sex. However, cases and controls were not matched on these variables since we were interested in measuring their effects specifically in the analysis. In fact, these two variables were not found to be confounders in this study and consequently, it would have been unnecessary to match on these factors.

Despite our efforts, we believe that our results may be affected by confounding by indication to some extent due to unknown factors

unaccounted for in the analysis. Also, residual confounding may be present in this study since duration of diabetes was measured as a dichotomous variable instead of a continuous one. This bias occurs because there probably exists a difference in risk of disease within the categories created for duration of diabetes.

Chapter Six - CONCLUSIONS

The following conclusions may be drawn from this study:

- The current use of calcium antagonists relative to diuretics was associated with a clinically important risk of cardiovascular disease.
 There was no variability in risk according to prior use of antihypertensive treatment or the use of drug markers for cardiovascular disease.
- There was no association between cardiovascular disease and the use of β-blockers relative to diuretics. A significant increase in cardiovascular disease was associated with the use of ACE-I and other antihypertensive medications only if subjects were concurrently taking both.
- Independent prognostic factors for cardiovascular disease included age, gender, and the initiation of pharmacologic treatment of angina (nitrates) and heart failure (loop diuretics).

The results of this study further supports the fact that calcium antagonists are associated with an increased risk of cardiovascular disease. According to the recent Canadian guidelines for the management of hypertension (23), first- line therapy should include an ACE-I or a cardioselective β -blocker for patients with diabetes. These

recommendations are based on the findings of two recent trials, namely, UKPDS (93) and HOPE (94;101). We agree that on the basis of the available evidence, ACE-I, followed by a β -blocker and a diuretic should be the preferred agents of choice.

Perhaps the controversy pertaining to the use of calcium antagonists in the treatment of high blood pressure in subjects with diabetes will end with the findings of a number of ongoing trials. For instance, Antihypertensive and Lipid Lowering Treatment to Prevent Heart Attack (ALLHAT), is a randomized clinical trial comparing the effects of individual antihypertensive agents in the prevention of cardiovascular events in a population of high risk subjects with hypertension older than 55 years old (133). For the purposes of this study, 40 000 patients, 14 000 of whom have diabetes, have been randomized to a calcium antagonist (amlodipine), an ACE-I (lisinopril), an α -blocker (doxazosin), or a thiazide diuretic (chlorthalidone). The results should be available by 2002.

References

- Diabetes in Canada. Health Canada, Ottawa, Canada, Health Protection Branch, Health Statistics. 1999.
 Ref Type: Report
- (2) Tan Mh WC. Diabetes Mellitus in Canada. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 1991; 14(Suppl 2):S3-S8.
- (3) Fauci AS et al (eds). Harrison's Principle of Internal Medicine. 14th Edition ed. McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc, 1998.
- (4) Alberti KG, Zimmet PZ. Definition, diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus and its complications. Part 1: diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus provisional report of a WHO consultation. Diabet Med 1998; 15(7):539-553.
- (5) Cecil Essentials of Medicine. Fourth edition ed. W.B. Saunders Company, 1997.
- (6) Dorman JS, LaPorte RE, Kuller LH, Cruickshanks KJ, Orchard TJ, Wagener DK et al. The Pittsburgh insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus (IDDM) morbidity and mortality study. Mortality results. Diabetes 1984; 33(3):271-276.
- (7) Rossing P, Hougaard P, Borch-Johnsen K, Parving HH. Predictors of mortality in insulin dependent diabetes: 10 year observational follow up study. BMJ 1996; 313(7060):779-784.
- (8) Koivisto VA, Stevens LK, Mattock M, Ebeling P, Muggeo M, Stephenson J et al. Cardiovascular disease and its risk factors in IDDM in Europe. EURODIAB IDDM Complications Study Group [see comments]. Diabetes Care 1996; 19(7):689-697.
- (9) Krolewski AS, Kosinski EJ, Warram JH, Leland OS, Busick EJ, Asmal AC et al. Magnitude and determinants of coronary artery disease in juvenile- onset, insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. Am J Cardiol 1987; 59(8):750-755.
- (10) Morrish NJ, Stevens LK, Fuller JH, Jarrett RJ, Keen H. Risk factors for macrovascular disease in diabetes mellitus: the London follow-up to the WHO Multinational Study of Vascular Disease in Diabetics. Diabetologia 1991; 34(8):590-594.
- (11) Panzram G. Mortality and survival in Type 2 diabetes. diabetolgia 1987; 30:123-131.
- (12) Panzram G, Zabel-Langhennig R. Prognosis of diabetes mellitus in a geographically defined population. Diabetologia 1981; 20(6):587-591.
- (13) Effect of intensive blood-glucose control with metformin of complications in overweight patients with type 2 diabetes. Lancet 1998; 352:854-865.
- (14) Turner RC, Holman RR. The UK Prospective Diabetes Study. UK Prospective Diabetes Study Group. Ann Med 1996; 28(5):439-444.
- (15) The effect of intensive treatment of diabetes on the development and progression of long-term complications in insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. The Diabetes Control and Complications Trial Research Group. N Engl J Med 1993; 329(14):977-986.
- (16) g.panzram. mortality and survival in type 2 diabetes mellitus. Diabetologia 1987; 30:123-131.
- (17) Stamler J. Diabetes, other risk factors, and 12-year cardiovascular mortality for men screened in the multiple risk factor intervention trial. Diabetes Care 1993; 16(2):434-444.
- (18) Kleinman JC, Donahue RP, Harris MI, Finucane FF, Madans JH, Brock DB. Mortality among diabetics in a national sample. Am J Epidemiol 1988; 128(2):389-401.
- (19) Moss SE, Klein R, Klein BE. Cause-specific mortality in a populationbased study of diabetes. Am J Public Health 1991; 81(9):1158-1162.
- (20) Sowers JR. The diabetic patient as paradigm for selective antihypertensive therapy. Clin Cornerstone 1999; 2(1):1-12.

- (21) Fuller JH, Elford J, Goldblatt P, Adelstein AM. Diabetes mortality: new light on an underestimated public health problem. Diabetologia 1983; 24(5):336-341.
- (22) Mogensen CE. Natural history of cardiovascular and renal disease in patients with type 2 diabetes: effect of therapeutic interventions and risk modification. Am J Cardiol 1998; 82:4R-8R.
- (23) Feldman RD, Campbell N, Larochelle P, Bolli P, Burgess ED, Carruthers SG et al. 1999 Canadian recommendations for the management of hypertension. Task Force for the Development of the 1999 Canadian Recommendations for the Management of Hypertension [see comments]. CMAJ 1999; 161 Suppl 12:S1-17.
- (24) Chockalingam A, Campbell N, Ruddy T, Taylor G, Stewart P. Canadian national high blood pressure prevention and control strategy. Can J Cardiol 2000; 16(9):1087-1093.
- (25) Joffres MR, Ghadirian P, Fodor JG, Petrasovits A, Chockalingam A, Hamet P. Awareness, treatment, and control of hypertension in Canada. Am J Hypertens 1997; 10(10 Pt 1):1097-1102.
- (26) Kannel WB. Blood pressure as a cardiovascular risk factor: prevention and treatment. JAMA 1996; 275(20):1571-1576.
- (27) Kannel WB. Some lessons in cardiovascular epidemiology from Framingham. Am J Cardiol 1976; 37(2):269-282.
- (28) Levy D, Larson MG, Vasan RS, Kannel WB, Ho KK. The progression from hypertension to congestive heart failure [see comments]. JAMA 1996; 275(20):1557-1562.
- (29) Anderson KM, Wilson PW, Odell PM, Kannel WB. An updated coronary risk profile. A statement for health professionals. Circulation 1991; 83(1):356-362.
- (30) The sixth report of the Joint National Committee on prevention, detection, evaluation, and treatment of high blood pressure [published erratum appears in Arch Intern Med 1998 Mar 23;158(6):573] [see comments]. Arch Intern Med 1997; 157(21):2413-2446.

- (31) Sheps SG. Overview of JNC VI: new directions in the management of hypertension and cardiovascular risk. Am J Hypertens 1999; 12(8 Pt 2):65S-72S.
- (32) Taguchi J, Freis ED. Partial reduction of blood pressure and prevention of complications in hypertension. N Engl J Med 1974; 291(7):329-331.
- (33) Mulrow CD, Cornell JA, Herrera CR, Kadri A, Farnett L, Aguilar C. Hypertension in the elderly. Implications and generalizability of randomized trials [see comments]. JAMA 1994; 272(24):1932-1938.
- (34) Hebert PR, Fiebach NH, Eberlein KA, Taylor JO, Hennekens CH. The community-based randomized trials of pharmacologic treatment of mild-to-moderate hypertension. Am J Epidemiol 1988; 127(3):581-590.
- (35) Cutler JA, Furberg CD. Drug treatment trials in hypertension: a review. Prev Med 1985; 14(4):499-518.
- (36) Collins R, Peto R, MacMahon S, Hebert P, Fiebach NH, Eberlein KA et al. Blood pressure, stroke, and coronary heart disease. Part 2, Shortterm reductions in blood pressure: overview of randomised drug trials in their epidemiological context [see comments]. Lancet 1990; 335(8693):827-838.
- (37) Meredith P. Do pharmacologic differences among antihypertensive agents point to clinical benefits? Am J Cardiol 1999; 84(10A):22S-27S.
- (38) Yusuf S, Lessem J, Jha P, Lonn E. Primary and secondary prevention of myocardial infarction and strokes: an update of randomly allocated, controlled trials. J Hypertens Suppl 1993; 11(4):S61-S73.
- (39) Goodman and Gilman's The Pharmacological basis of Therapeutics. seventh, A. Goodman, Gillman, LS Goodman, et al ed. MacMillan, 985.
- (40) Psaty BM, Smith NL, Siscovick DS, Koepsell TD, Weiss NS, Heckbert SR et al. Health outcomes associated with antihypertensive therapies used as first-line agents. A systematic review and meta-analysis [see comments]. JAMA 1997; 277(9):739-745.

- (41) Indications for ACE inhibitors in the early treatment of acute myocardial infarction: systematic overview of individual data from 100,000 patients in randomized trials. ACE Inhibitor Myocardial Infarction Collaborative Group [see comments]. Circulation 1998; 97(22):2202-2212.
- (42) Effect of enalapril on survival in patients with reduced left ventricular ejection fractions and congestive heart failure. The SOLVD Investigators [see comments]. N Engl J Med 1991; 325(5):293-302.
- (43) Bilo HJ, Gans RO. Hypertensive patients and diabetes: a high-risk population. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 1998; 32 Suppl 2:S1-S8.
- (44) Mehler PS, Jeffers BW, Estacio R, Schrier RW. Associations of hypertension and complications in non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. Am J Hypertens 1997; 10(2):152-161.
- (45) Alderman MH, Cohen H, Madhavan S. Diabetes and cardiovascular events in hypertensive patients. Hypertension 1999; 33(5):1130-1134.
- (46) MacLeod MJ, McLay J. Drug treatment of hypertension complicating diabetes mellitus. Drugs 1998; 56(2):189-202.
- (47) Sawicki PT, Heise T, Berger M. Antihypertensive treatment and mortality in diabetic patients. What is the evidence? Diabetologia 1997; 40 Suppl 2:S134-S137.
- (48) Makrilakis K, Bakris G. Diabetic hypertensive patients: improving their prognosis. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 1998; 31 Suppl 2:S34-S40.
- (49) Alderman MH, Cohen H, Roque R, Madhavan S. Effect of long-acting and short-acting calcium antagonists on cardiovascular outcomes in hypertensive patients. Lancet 1997; 349(9052):594-598.
- (50) Yoshinari M, Kaku R, Iwase M, Iino K, Yamamoto M, Satou Y et al. Development of ischemic stroke in normotensive and hypertensive diabetic patients with or without antihypertensive treatment: an 8-year followup study. J Diabetes Complications 1997; 11(1):9-14.

- (51) UK Prospective Diabetes Study (UKPDS). X. Urinary albumin excretion over 3 years in diet-treated type 2, (non-insulin-dependent) diabetic patients, and association with hypertension, hyperglycaemia and hypertriglyceridaemia. Diabetologia 1993; 36(10):1021-1029.
- (52) Kohner EM, Aldington SJ, Stratton IM, Manley SE, Holman RR, Matthews DR et al. United Kingdom Prospective Diabetes Study, 30: diabetic retinopathy at diagnosis of non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus and associated risk factors. Arch Ophthalmol 1998; 116(3):297-303.
- (53) Epstein M, Sowers JR. Diabetes mellitus and hypertension. Hypertension 1992; 19(5):403-418.
- (54) Hypertension in Diabetes Study (HDS): I. Prevalence of hypertension in newly presenting type 2 diabetic patients and the association with risk factors for cardiovascular and diabetic complications. J Hypertens 1993; 11(3):309-317.
- (55) Estacio RO, Jeffers BW, Hiatt WR, Biggerstaff SL, Gifford N, Schrier RW. The effect of nisoldipine as compared with enalapril on cardiovascular outcomes in patients with non-insulin-dependent diabetes and hypertension [see comments]. N Engl J Med 1998; 338(10):645-652.
- (56) Reaven GM, Lithell H, Landsberg L. Hypertension and associated metabolic abnormalities--the role of insulin resistance and the sympathoadrenal system. N Engl J Med 1996; 334(6):374-381.
- (57) Nilsson P. New drugs and clinical trials in diabetes and hypertension. Exp Clin Endocrinol Diabetes 1997; 105 Suppl 2:64-69.
- (58) Guzman CB, Sowers JR. Special considerations in the therapy of diabetic hypertension. Prog Cardiovasc Dis 1999; 41(6):461-470.
- (59) Endre T, Mattiasson I, Berglund G, Hulthen UL. Insulin and renal sodium retention in hypertension-prone men. Hypertension 1994; 23(3):313-319.

- (60) Nolan JJ, Ludvik B, Beerdsen P, Joyce M, Olefsky J. Improvement in glucose tolerance and insulin resistance in obese subjects treated with troglitazone. N Engl J Med 1994; 331(18):1188-1193.
- (61) Sowers JR, Lester MA. Diabetes and cardiovascular disease. Diabetes Care 1999; 22 Suppl 3:C14-C20.
- (62) Epstein M. Diabetes and hypertension: the bad companions. J Hypertens Suppl 1997; 15(2):S55-S62.
- (63) Shantaram V. Pathogenesis of atherosclerosis in diabetes and hypertension. Clin Exp Hypertens 1999; 21(1-2):69-77.
- (64) Sowers JR, Epstein M. Diabetes mellitus and associated hypertension, vascular disease, and nephropathy. An update. Hypertension 1995; 26(6 Pt 1):869-879.
- (65) Tight blood pressure control and risk of macrovascular and microvascular complications in type 2 diabetes: UKPDS 38. UK Prospective Diabetes Study Group [see comments] [published erratum appears in BMJ 1999 Jan 2;318(7175):29]. BMJ 1998; 317(7160):703-713.
- (66) Ibrahim HA, Vora JP. Hypertension in diabetes: a good opportunity to practise evidence-based medicine? A commentary on the UKPDS. United Kingdom Prospective Diabetes Study. J Hum Hypertens 1999; 13(4):221-223.
- (67) Hansson L, Zanchetti A, Carruthers SG, Dahlof B, Elmfeldt D, Julius S et al. Effects of intensive blood-pressure lowering and low-dose aspirin in patients with hypertension: principal results of the Hypertension Optimal Treatment (HOT) randomised trial. HOT Study Group [see comments]. Lancet 1998; 351(9118):1755-1762.
- (68) Komers R, Anderson S. Are angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors the best treatment for hypertension in type 2 diabetes? Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens 2000; 9(2):173-179.

- (69) White WB, Prisant LM, Wright JT, Jr. Management of patients with hypertension and diabetes mellitus: advances in the evidence for intensive treatment. Am J Med 2000; 108(3):238-245.
- (70) Levy EM. Angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors: first line therapy in patients with diabetic hypertension? [editorial]. Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens 1999; 8(3):333-334.
- (71) Teuscher AU, Weidmann PU. Requirements for antihypertensive therapy in diabetic patients: metabolic aspects. J Hypertens Suppl 1997; 15(2):S67-S75.
- (72) Leese GP, Savage MW, Chattington PD, Vora JP. The diabetic patient with hypertension. Postgrad Med J 1996; 72(847):263-268.
- (73) Remuzzi G, Ruggenenti P, Benigni A. Understanding the nature of renal disease progression. Kidney Int 1997; 51(1):2-15.
- (74) Bakris GL. Hypertension in diabetic patients. An overview of interventional studies to preserve renal function. Am J Hypertens 1993; 6(4):140S-147S.
- (75) Lewis EJ, Hunsicker LG, Bain RP, Rohde RD. The effect of angiotensin-converting-enzyme inhibition on diabetic nephropathy. The Collaborative Study Group [see comments] [published erratum appears in N Engl J Med 1993 Jan 13;330(2):152]. N Engl J Med 1993; 329(20):1456-1462.
- (76) Fatourechi V, Kennedy FP, Rizza RA, Hogan MJ. A practical guideline for management of hypertension in patients with diabetes. Mayo Clin Proc 1996; 71(1):53-58.
- (77) Comparison between perindopril and nifedipine in hypertensive and normotensive diabetic patients with microalbuminuria. Melbourne Diabetic Nephropathy Study Group. BMJ 1991; 302(6770):210-216.
- (78) Psaty BM, Heckbert SR, Koepsell TD, Siscovick DS, Raghunathan TE, Weiss NS et al. The risk of myocardial infarction associated with antihypertensive drug therapies [see comments]. JAMA 1995; 274(8):620-625.

- (79) Pahor M, Guralnik JM, Corti MC, Foley DJ, Carbonin P, Havlik RJ. Long-term survival and use of antihypertensive medications in older persons [see comments]. J Am Geriatr Soc 1995; 43(11):1191-1197.
- (80) Warram JH, Laffel LM, Valsania P, Christlieb AR, Krolewski AS. Excess mortality associated with diuretic therapy in diabetes mellitus [see comments]. Arch Intern Med 1991; 151(7):1350-1356.
- (81) Tatti P, Pahor M, Byington RP, Di Mauro P, Guarisco R, Strollo G et al. Outcome results of the Fosinopril Versus Amlodipine Cardiovascular Events Randomized Trial (FACET) in patients with hypertension and NIDDM [see comments]. Diabetes Care 1998; 21(4):597-603.
- (82) Pahor M, Kritchevsky SB, Zuccala G, Guralnik JM. Diabetes and risk of adverse events with calcium antagonists. Diabetes Care 1998; 21(1):193-194.
- (83) Alderman M, Madhavan S, Cohen H. Calcium antagonists and cardiovascular events in patients with hypertension and diabetes. Lancet 1998; 351(9097):216-217.
- (84) Pahor M, Psaty BM, Furberg CD. Treatment of hypertensive patients with diabetes [see comments]. Lancet 1998; 351(9104):689-690.
- (85) Heckbert SR, Psaty BM, Kaplan RC eal. ACE inhibitors and MI risk in diabetics with hypertension. Circulation 1998; 97:826.
- (86) Lindberg G OJMA. Use of Calcium Channel Blockers and Beta Blockers as Antihypertensives in Relation to Mortality in Type 2 Diabetes Patients: A Population-based Observational Study. Pharmacoepidemiology and drug Safety 2000; 9:127-131.
- (87) Yusuf S, Sleight P, Pogue J, Bosch J, Davies R, Dagenais G. Effects of an angiotensin-converting-enzyme inhibitor, ramipril, on cardiovascular events in high-risk patients. The Heart Outcomes Prevention Evaluation Study Investigators [see comments] [published errata appear in N Engl J Med 2000 Mar 9;342(10):748 and 2000 May 4;342(18):1376]. N Engl J Med 2000; 342(3):145-153.

- (88) Verdecchia P, Schillaci G, Reboldi G, Borgioni C, Ciucci A, Porcellati C. Calcium antagonists and cardiovascular risk in patients with hypertension and Type 2 diabetes mellitus: evidence from the PIUMA Study. Progetto Ipertensione Umbria Monitoraggio Ambulatoriale [see comments]. Diabetes Nutr Metab 1999; 12(4):292-299.
- (89) Zoccali C. Calcium channel blockers in diabetic subjects: innocent at last? [editorial; comment]. Diabetes Nutr Metab 1999; 12(4):249-251.
- (90) Furberg CD. Hypertension and diabetes: current issues. Am Heart J 1999; 138(5 Pt 1):S400-S405.
- (91) Yusuf S. Calcium antagonists in coronary artery disease and hypertension. Time for reevaluation? Circulation 1995; 92(5):1079-1082.
- (92) Pahor M, Psaty BM, Furberg CD. New evidence on the prevention of cardiovascular events in hypertensive patients with type 2 diabetes. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 1998; 32 Suppl 2:S18-S23.
- (93) Efficacy of atenolol and captopril in reducing risk of macrovascular and microvascular complications in type 2 diabetes: UKPDS 39. UK Prospective Diabetes Study Group [see comments]. BMJ 1998; 317(7160):713-720.
- (94) Effects of ramipril on cardiovascular and microvascular outcomes in people with diabetes mellitus: results of the HOPE study and MICRO-HOPE substudy. Heart Outcomes Prevention Evaluation Study Investigators [see comments]. Lancet 2000; 355(9200):253-259.
- (95) Curb JD, Pressel SL, Cutler JA, Savage PJ, Applegate WB, Black H et al. Effect of diuretic-based antihypertensive treatment on cardiovascular disease risk in older diabetic patients with isolated systolic hypertension. Systolic Hypertension in the Elderly Program Cooperative Research Group [published erratum appears in JAMA 1997 May 7;277(17):1356] [see comments]. JAMA 1996; 276(23):1886-1892.

- (96) Staessen JA, Fagard R, Thijs L, Celis H, Arabidze GG, Birkenhager WH et al. Randomised double-blind comparison of placebo and active treatment for older patients with isolated systolic hypertension. The Systolic Hypertension in Europe (Syst-Eur) Trial Investigators [see comments]. Lancet 1997; 350(9080):757-764.
- (97) Hansson L, Lindholm LH, Niskanen L, Lanke J, Hedner T, Niklason A et al. Effect of angiotensin-converting-enzyme inhibition compared with conventional therapy on cardiovascular morbidity and mortality in hypertension: the Captopril Prevention Project (CAPPP) randomised trial [see comments]. Lancet 1999; 353(9153):611-616.
- (98) Borhani NO, Mercuri M, Borhani PA, Buckalew VM, Canossa-Terris M, Carr AA et al. Final outcome results of the Multicenter Isradipine Diuretic Atherosclerosis Study (MIDAS). A randomized controlled trial [see comments]. JAMA 1996; 276(10):785-791.
- (99) Byington RP, Craven TE, Furberg CD, Pahor M. Isradipine, raised glycosylated haemoglobin, and risk of cardiovascular events. Lancet 1997; 350(9084):1075-1076.
- (100) Tuomilehto J, Rastenyte D, Birkenhager WH, Thijs L, Antikainen R, Bulpitt CJ et al. Effects of calcium-channel blockade in older patients with diabetes and systolic hypertension. Systolic Hypertension in Europe Trial Investigators. N Engl J Med 1999; 340(9):677-684.
- (101) Effects of an angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor, ramipril, on cardiovascular events in high risk patients. N Engl J Med 2001; 342:145-153.
- (102) Poulter NR. Calcium antagonists and the diabetic patient: a response to recent controversies. Am J Cardiol 1998; 82(9B):40R-41R.
- (103) Villarosa IP, Bakris GL. The Appropriate Blood Pressure Control in Diabetes (ABCD) Trial. J Hum Hypertens 1998; 12(9):653-655.
- (104) Parving HH. Calcium antagonists and cardiovascular risk in diabetes. Am J Cardiol 1998; 82(9B):42R-44R.

- (105) Estacio RO, Schrier RW. Antihypertensive therapy in type 2 diabetes: implications of the appropriate blood pressure control in diabetes (ABCD) trial. Am J Cardiol 1998; 82(9B):9R-14R.
- (106) Husten L. Calcium antagonist stopped in ABCD study. Appropriate Blood Pressure Control in Diabetes. Lancet 1998; 351(9104):731.
- (107) Psaty BM, Koepsell TD, Logerfo JP, Wagner EH, Inui TS. Betablockers and primary prevention of coronary heart disease in patients with high blood pressure. JAMA 1989; 261(14):2087-2094.
- (108) Sowers JR. Comorbidity of hypertension and diabetes: the fosinopril versus amlodipine cardiovascular events trial (FACET) [see comments]. Am J Cardiol 1998; 82(9B):15R-19R.
- (109) Chowdhury TA, Kumar S, Barnett AH, Dodson PM. Treatment of hypertension in patients with type 2 diabetes: a review of the recent evidence. J Hum Hypertens 1999; 13(12):803-811.
- (110) Parving HH, Rossing P. Diabetes and risk of adverse events with calcium antagonists [letter; comment]. Diabetes Care 1998; 21(10):1779-1780.
- (111) Pahor M, Tatti P. The Fosinopril versus Amlodipine Cardiovascular Events Trial (FACET) and combination therapies [letter; comment]. Am J Cardiol 1999; 83(5):819-820.
- (112) Dinneen SF, Gerstein HC. The association of microalbuminuria and mortality in non-insulin- dependent diabetes mellitus. A systematic overview of the literature. Arch Intern Med 1997; 157(13):1413-1418.
- (113) MacLeod JM, Lutale J, Marshall SM. Albumin excretion and vascular deaths in NIDDM. Diabetologia 1995; 38(5):610-616.
- (114) Salpeter S. Calcium-channel blockade and hypertension [letter; comment]. N Engl J Med 1999; 341(5):372-373.
- (115) Scheen AJ. CAPPP trial. Captopril Prevention Project [letter]. Lancet 1999; 353(9166):1793-1794.

- (116) Messerli FH, Grossman E. CAPPP trial. Captopril Prevention Project [letter]. Lancet 1999; 353(9166):1794-1795.
- (117) Yusuf S, Peto R, Lewis J, Collins R, Sleight P. Beta blockade during and after myocardial infarction: an overview of the randomized trials. Prog Cardiovasc Dis 1985; 27(5):335-371.
- (118) Rawson NS, Malcolm E. Validity of the recording of ischaemic heart disease and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in the Saskatchewan health care datafiles. Stat Med 1995; 14(24):2627-2643.
- (119) Strand LM DW. Health Databases in Saskatchewan. In: Strom BL, editor. Pharmacoepidemiology. West Sussex: John Wley & Sons, 1994: 217-229.
- (120) Malcolm E.Downey W SLMMWR. Saskatchewan Health linkable database and pharmacoepidemiology. Post Marketting Surveillance 1993; 6:175-264.
- (121) World Health Organization. International Classification of Diseases. Manual of the international statistical classification of diseases, injuries, and cause of death. Geneva: World Health Organization. Ninth ed. 1977.
- (122) Rawson N. Aspectsof the validity of th Saskatchewan administrative health care utilization datafiles. Pharmacoepidemiology and drug Safety 1994; 3: S3.
- (123) Miettinen OS, Caro JJ. Principles of nonexperimental assessment of excess risk, with special reference to adverse drug reactions. J Clin Epidemiol 1989; 42(4):325-331.
- (124) Mason RP, Mason PE. Calcium channel blockers and cardiovascular risk in diabetes [letter; comment]. Lancet 1998; 351(9118):1809-1.
- (125) Mason RP, Mason PE. Calcium antagonists and cardiovascular risk in diabetes. A review of the evidence. Diabetes Care 1999; 22(7):1206-1208.

- (126) Mason RP, Mason PE. Critique of a biologic mechanism linking calcium antagonists to increased risk for cardiovascular events in diabetes. Am J Cardiol 1998; 82(9B):29R-31R.
- (127) Fundamentals of Clinical Trials. Third ed. Springer-Verlag New York, 1998.
- (128) Collet JP BJSW. Bias and Confounding in Pharmacoepidemiology. In: Brian L.Strom, editor. Pharmacoepidemiology. 1994: 609-627.
- (129) Modern Epidemiology. Second ed. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, 1998.
- (130) Rawson N. Reliability of the recording of hysterectomy in the Saskatchewan health care system. British Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology 1996; 103:891-897.
- Rawson NS, Malcolm E. Validity of the recording of cholecystectomy and hysterectomy in the Saskatchewan health care datafiles. Saskatchewan, editor. 3, 1-17. 1995. Ref Type: Report
- (132) Psaty BM, Koepsell TD, Siscovick D, Wahl P, Logerfo JP, Inui TS et al. An approach to several problems in using large databases for population- based case-control studies of the therapeutic efficacy and safety of anti-hypertensive medicines. Stat Med 1991; 10(4):653-662.
- (133) Davis BR, Cutler JA, Gordon DJ, Furberg CD, Wright JT, Jr., Cushman WC et al. Rationale and design for the Antihypertensive and Lipid Lowering Treatment to Prevent Heart Attack Trial (ALLHAT). ALLHAT Research Group. Am J Hypertens 1996; 9(4 Pt 1):342-360.

APPENDICES

Metabolic Profiles of Different Classes of Antihypertensive Therapy

· ·	Thiazide- like	β-Blockers	Calcium Antagonist	ACE- Inhibitors	α ₁ - blockers	Others
Glycemia	ţ	ţ	-	-	-	-
Insulin Resistance	-1	Ť	-	-1	ţ	-
Lipid Metabolism:						
HDL	. 1	Ţ	-	-	1	-
LDL	Ť	-	-	-	-	-
TG	-	ţ	-	-	ţ	-

Notes:

- HDL = High-density lipoprotein cholesterol LDL = Low-density lipoprotein cholesterol
- TG = Triglycerides
- 1 =Increase
- \downarrow = Decrease
- = Neutral

Observational Studies on the Association of Cardiovascular Disease and Antihypertensive Therapy in Diabetic Subjects

	Study Design	Cohort Definition	Study Population	Main Exposure	Primary Endpoint	Adjusted RR/OR
Warram et al.{927}	Cohort	Prevalent hypertension	759 subjects	Diuretics at cohort entry	Cardiovascular mortality	5.1 p<0.0001 Diuretics vs none
Pahor et al.{851}{984}	Cohort	Prevalent hypertension	N/A	Nifedipine at any time during f/u	Cardiovascular/non- cardiovascular events §	3.27 vs 1.36 Diabetic vs nondiabetic
Alderman et al.{985}{943}	Case-control	Prevalent hypertension	34 cases	Current use of CCB	Cardiovascular events †	6.85 (1.5-31.3) CCB vs other
Heckbert et al.{986}	Case-control	Prevalent hypertension	216 case 34 controls	Current use of ACE-I	Fatal or nonfatal myocardial infarct	0.48 (0.23-0.97) ACE-I vs CCB
Lindberg et al.{987}	Retrospective cohort	Prevalent hypertension	366 subjects	CCB or BB at cohort entry	All-cause mortality	1.78 (1.17-2.71) CCB vs ACE-I
Verdacchia et al.{37}	Retrospective cohort	Prevalent hypertension	164 subjects	Current use CCB	Cardiovascular events ‡	0.88 (0.47-1.67) CCB vs nonusers CCB

§ All-cause mortality, incident cancer, severe gastrointestinal bleeding, peri-operative blood transfusion
† Nonfatal MI, stroke, revascularization, congestive heart failure, ischemic heart disease, death due to cardiovascular disease
‡ Coronary artery disease, stroke, transient ischemic attacks, congestive heart failure, renal failure, aorto-iliac occlusion

<u>Abbreviations:</u> CCB=calcium channel blockers, BB= β -blockers, ACE-I-angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitor

APPENDIX 3 Randomized clinical trials of antihypertensive therapy in diabetic patients

	# of diabetic subjects	Diabetes as subgroup	Years of followup	Main treatment comparisons	Cardiovascular endpoints (primary or secondary)	RR/RRR: first drug to second drug (95%CI)
ABCD{923}	470	No	2	Nisoldipine vs Enalapril	Fatal or nonfatal MI	9.5 (2.3-21.4)
FACET{924}	380	No	2	Fosinopril vs Amlodipine	Combined MI, stroke, or angina	0.49 (0.26-0.95)
UKPDS{396}	758	No	9	Captopril vs Atenolol	Diabetes-related endpoints Diabetes-related death Strokes	-24% 838%) -32% (651%) -44% (1165)
MIDAS{992}{928}	415	Yes	3	Isradipine vs Hydrochlorothiazide	Cardiovascular events or death	2.71 (1.07-6.86)
SHEP{816}	583	Yes	4.5	Chlorthalidone vs Placebo	Major cardiovascular events Major coronary heart disease	0.66 (0.46-0.94) 0.44 (0.25-0.77)
Sys-Eur {993}{850}	492	Yes	2	Nitredipine vs Placebo	Cardiovascular mortality Cardiovascular events Cardiac events	-70% (1989%) -62% (1980%) -57% (-6 - -82%)
CAPPP{921}	572	Yes	6	Captopril vs β-blockers or Thiazide-like diuretics	Fatal and nonfatal MI	0.34 (0.17-0.67)
HOPE{994}{443}	3577	Yes	4.5	Ramipril and Vitamin E vs Placebo	Myocardial infarct, stroke, or cardiovascular death	-25% (-1236)

Abbreviations: RR=relative risk RRR= relative risk reduction

Antihyperglycemic Drugs Used to Identify Diabetic Subjects

Insulin Preparations	Sulfonylureas	Biguanides
Regular	Acetohexamide	Phenformin
Lente	Chlorpropamide	Metformin
Semilente	Glyburide	
Ultralente	Tolbutamide	
Isophane		
Zinc Crystalline		
Premixed		
Sulfated		
Protamine Zinc		

Antihypertensive Drugs Used to Identify Hypertensive Subjects

Thiazide-like	β-Blockers	Calcium	ACE-Inhibitors	Other
Hydrochloro-	Acebutolol	Nifedipine	Captopril	Methyldopa
Amiloride	Atenolol	Diltiazem	Enalapril	Clonidine
Chlorthalidone	Propanolol	Verapamil	Lisinopril	Hydralazine
Indapamide	Metoprolol	Nicardipine	Fosinopril	Minoxidil
Metolazone	Nadolol	Felodipine	Quinapril	Reserpine
Spironolactone	Labetolol	Amlodipine	Benazepril	Doxazosin
Triamterene	Oxprenolol		Ramipril	Guanethidine
	Timolol		Cilazapril	Bethanidine
	Sotolol		Perindopril	Debrisoquine
				Rauwolfia
				Prazosin
				Paragyline
				Diazoxide
en statut de la <u>statu</u> e en su statut autore en est	, data	and the second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second		Terazosin

·····

List of Diagnosis Used to Exclude Cohort Members with Atherosclerotic Disease Prior to Cohort Entry

Hospital Discharge Diagnosis	ICD-9 Codes
Acute Myocardial Infarction	410
Other acute and subacute form of ischemic heart	411
Old myocardial infarction	412
Angina pectoris	413
Other forms of chronic ischemic heart disease	414
Heart failure	428
Stroke	433-437
Atherosclerosis	440

and the second s

ICD-9 Codes Used for the Identification of Case Patients

Cardiovascular Disease	ICD-9 Codes
Myocardial Infarction	410
Angina	413
Other ischemic heart disease	411,412,414
Heart failure	428
Stroke	433-437

Drug Markers Used for Comorbidity Assessment in the Year Preceding Cohort Entry

Comorbidity	Medication
Dyslipidemia	Cholestyramine, Clofibrate, Colestipol, Fluvastin,
Seizure Disorder	Anticonvulsants
Respiratory Illness	β -adrenergic agents, Xanthines, Epinephrine,
Parkinson's Disease	Anti-Parkinsonian Agents
Ulcers	Histamine ₂ blockers, Proton pump inhibitors
Respiratory	Glucocorticoids
Mental Disease/Anxiety	Major tranquilizers, Benzodiazepines, Anti-depressants,
NSAIDs	Diclofenac, Naprosyn, Indomethacin, Sulindac, Ibuprofen,